

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Hemilä H, Louhiala P

Hemilä H, Louhiala P. Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD005532. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005532.pub3.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	3
OBJECTIVES	4
METHODS	4
RESULTS	6
Figure 1	10
Figure 2.	11
Figure 3.	12
Figure 4.	13
DISCUSSION	13
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	17
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	18
REFERENCES	19
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	25
DATA AND ANALYSES	30
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Vitamin C for preventing community-acquired pneumonia, Outcome 1 The number of pneumonia cases during the follow-up.	31
Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Vitamin C for treating community-acquired pneumonia, Outcome 1 Change in the severity of pulmonary symptoms (scale 3 to 10).	31
Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Vitamin C for treating community-acquired pneumonia, Outcome 2 Mortality of pneumonia patients.	32
Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 Vitamin C for treating community-acquired pneumonia, Outcome 3 Duration of pneumonia (days).	32
Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Vitamin C for preventing hospital-acquired pneumonia, Outcome 1 The number of pneumonia cases during the follow-up.	32
ADDITIONAL TABLES	32
APPENDICES	33
WHAT'S NEW	34
HISTORY	35
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	35
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	35
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	35
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	35
NOTES	35
INDEX TERMS	36



[Intervention Review]

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia

Harri Hemilä¹, Pekka Louhiala¹

¹Department of Public Health, POB 41, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Contact address: Harri Hemilä, Department of Public Health, POB 41, University of Helsinki, Mannerheimintie 172, Helsinki, FIN-00014, Finland. harri.hemila@helsinki.fi.

Editorial group: Cochrane Acute Respiratory Infections Group **Publication status and date:** New search for studies and content updated (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 8, 2013.

Citation: Hemilä H, Louhiala P. Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD005532. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005532.pub3.

Copyright ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Pneumonia is one of the most common serious infections, causing two million deaths annually among young children in low-income countries. In high-income countries pneumonia is most significantly a problem of the elderly.

Objectives

To assess the prophylactic and therapeutic effects of vitamin C on pneumonia.

Search methods

We searched CENTRAL 2013, Issue 3, MEDLINE (1950 to March week 4, 2013), EMBASE (1974 to April 2013) and Web of Science (1955 to April 2013).

Selection criteria

To assess the therapeutic effects of vitamin C, we selected placebo-controlled trials. To assess prophylactic effects, we selected controlled trials with or without a placebo.

Data collection and analysis

Two review authors independently read the trial reports and extracted data.

Main results

We identified three prophylactic trials which recorded 37 cases of community-acquired pneumonia in 2335 people. Only one was satisfactorily randomised, double-blind and placebo-controlled. Two trials examined military recruits and the third studied boys from "lower wage-earning classes" attending a boarding school in the UK during World War II. Each of these three trials found a statistically significant (80% or greater) reduction in pneumonia incidence in the vitamin C group. We identified two therapeutic trials involving 197 community-acquired pneumonia patients. Only one was satisfactorily randomised, double-blind and placebo-controlled. That trial studied elderly patients in the UK and found lower mortality and reduced severity in the vitamin C group; however, the benefit was restricted to the most ill patients. The other therapeutic trial studied adults with a wide age range in the former Soviet Union and found a dose-dependent reduction in the duration of pneumonia with two vitamin C doses. We identified one prophylactic trial recording 13 cases of hospital-acquired pneumonia in 37 severely burned patients; one-day administration of vitamin C had no effect on pneumonia incidence. The identified studies are clinically heterogeneous which limits their comparability. The included studies did not find adverse effects of vitamin C.



Authors' conclusions

The prophylactic use of vitamin C to prevent pneumonia should be further investigated in populations who have a high incidence of pneumonia, especially if dietary vitamin C intake is low. Similarly, the therapeutic effects of vitamin C should be studied, especially in patients with low plasma vitamin C levels. The current evidence is too weak to advocate prophylactic use of vitamin C to prevent pneumonia in the general population. Nevertheless, therapeutic vitamin C supplementation may be reasonable for pneumonia patients who have low vitamin C plasma levels because its cost and risks are low.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia

Pneumonia is an infection of the lungs usually caused by bacteria and viruses. Its clinical diagnosis is sometimes difficult. Pneumonia is more common in young children and in the aged. In low-income countries it causes two million deaths annually among young children. In the USA it is the most common cause of death from infection.

Vitamin C was identified in the early 1900s and suggestions that one of its biological roles may be to resist infections are supported by numerous animal studies. We looked for studies in humans and found three trials with a total of 2335 participants that looked at whether vitamin C prevents pneumonia in the community. Two of these preventive trials studied soldiers while the third studied boys in a UK boarding school in the 1940s. Two therapeutic trials with a total of 197 pneumonia patients looked at whether vitamin C might be beneficial for pneumonia patients. One studied patients aged 66 to 94 years in the UK with pneumonia. The other therapeutic trial was conducted in the former Soviet Union but the social and nutritional backgrounds of the patients were not described. One study with 37 burns patients examined the effect of vitamin C on hospital-acquired pneumonia. Our searches were up-date-as of April 2013.

Five of the identified trials found preventive or therapeutic benefits of vitamin C against pneumonia but the study on hospital-acquired pneumonia found no effect. The overall quality of the studies was good. However, the five trials with positive findings were carried out in such extraordinary conditions that the results should not be extrapolated to the general population. Therefore, more research is needed. In the meantime, supplementing pneumonia patients who have low plasma vitamin C levels may be reasonable because of its safety and low cost. None of the five trials reported noteworthy adverse effects of vitamin C.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Pneumonia is an infection of the lungs and can be caused by bacteria, viruses, Rickettsia, fungi or parasites. Nearly 100 species have been identified as aetiological agents (Mandell 2010; File 2003; Ruuskanen 2011). Although the pathological definition of pneumonia is clear, the clinical diagnosis is sometimes ambiguous (Appendix 1).

The risk of pneumonia is increased in young children and the elderly. In low-income countries, pneumonia causes two million deaths annually among children under five years of age (Mizgerd 2006; Paynter 2010; Walker 2013). In the USA, pneumonia is the sixth most common cause of death and the most common cause of infection-related deaths (Mandell 2010).

Description of the intervention

Vitamin C was identified in the 1930s as consequence of the search for a substance, the deficiency of which causes scurvy. After its identification there was much interest in its effects on diseases unrelated to scurvy but this role remains unclear.

According to systematic reviews, over two dozen controlled trials have shown that vitamin C shortens the duration of colds (Hemilä 2003; Hemilä 2013a). Five trials have found that vitamin C halved the incidence of colds in participants who endured heavy acute physical stress (Hemilä 1996; Hemilä 2013a), three trials have found that vitamin C halved the exercise-induced decline in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) in participants who suffered from exercise-induced bronchoconstriction (Hemilä 2013b) and one trial has reported a significant decrease in the tetanus case-fatality rate (Hemilä 2008). A further systematic review of 29 trials concluded that vitamin C reduces blood pressure (Juraschek 2012).

In randomised trials with critically ill intensive care unit (ICU) patients, vitamin C (Tanaka 2000) and the combination of vitamins C and E (Nathens 2002) significantly decreased the length of mechanical ventilation and in a case-control study ICU patients administered vitamins C and E and selenium had shorter ICU stays and lower mortality rates (Collier 2008). Furthermore, dietary vitamin C intake modified the effect of vitamin E on the mortality of older male smokers and this modification was not explained by other substances in fruit and vegetables (Hemilä 2009a).

Although such findings indicate that the effects of vitamin C are not limited to preventing overt scurvy, their practical significance is not yet clear. Two large trials with US male physicians and female health professionals found no benefits of 0.5 G/day of vitamin C (Cook 2007; Sesso 2008) and ≥ 1 G/day of vitamin C had no effect on common cold incidence in the general population (Hemilä 2013a), but these findings are not discordant with the possibility that vitamin C administration might influence, for example, susceptibility to pneumonia or the severity of pneumonia in special conditions.

There is much evidence that vitamin C influences the immune system but its effects may be apparent only in particular conditions. For example, it is possible that variation in vitamin C intake does not influence the immune system in the ordinary Western population because of their relatively high dietary intake levels. Nevertheless, vitamin C might be a limiting factor in populations with low intakes. An extreme example is the high prevalence of frank vitamin C deficiency, apparent as scurvy, in refugee camps in the Horn of Africa: reported to have been up to 44% (WHO 1999b).

In the early 1900s, Alfred Hess carried out extensive studies of scurvy and summarised a large series of autopsy findings: "pneumonia, lobular or lobar, is one of the most frequent complications [of scurvy] and causes of death" and "secondary pneumonias, usually broncho-pneumonic in type, are of common occurrence and in many [scurvy] epidemics constitute the prevailing cause of death" (Hess 1920). He further commented, in a major medical journal a decade later, that in "infantile scurvy . . . a lack of the antiscorbutic factor [vitamin C] which leads to scurvy, at the same time predisposes to infections [particularly of the respiratory tract] . . . Similar susceptibility to infections goes hand in hand with adult scurvy" (Hess 1932). In the early 1900s, Casimir Funk, who coined the term 'vitamin', pointed out that an epidemic of pneumonia in the Sudan disappeared when antiscorbutic (vitamin C-containing) treatment was given to the numerous cases of scurvy which appeared at about the same time (Robertson 1934).

Vitamin C deficiency is not just of historical relevance. Cases of scurvy in hospitals have been described in several recent case reports, for example Holley 2011 and Smith 2011, and one survey estimated that about 10% of hospitalised elderly patients had scurvy (Raynaud-Simon 2010). In the UK, 25% of men and 16% of women from low-income populations had vitamin C deficiency (< 11 µmol/L) (Mosdøl 2008) and in the USA 7% of healthy middleclass participants had vitamin C deficiency (Schleicher 2009). Thus, if pneumonia risk is increased by low intakes of vitamin C, this issue might also be important in parts of high-income countries.

Furthermore, vitamin C metabolism is affected by various infections, including pneumonia, as indicated by decreased levels in plasma, leucocytes and urine (Bakaev 2004; Bhoite 2011; Cemek 2006; Chakrabarti 1955; Hemilä 1997a; Hemilä 1999b; Hemilä 2006; Hunt 1994; Mochalkin 1970). These changes in metabolism mean that vitamin C might have a treatment effect on pneumonia patients irrespective of their dietary intake. Since the 1930s, a few German and US physicians have proposed that vitamin C might be beneficial in the treatment of pneumonia (Bohnholtzer 1937; Hochwald 1937). Gander and Niederberger concluded from a series of 15 cases that "the general condition is always favourably influenced [by vitamin C] to a noticeable extent, as is the convalescence, which proceeds better and more quickly than in cases of pneumonia which are not treated with vitamin C" (Gander 1936). Benefit from intravenous vitamin C was reported in a series of over 40 cases (Klenner 1948; Klenner 1951) and in three cases of viral pneumonia (Dalton 1962). Large oral doses of vitamin C were also claimed to be beneficial in patients with viral pneumonia (Cathcart 1981; Luberoff 1978).

The effect of vitamin C on the common cold has been studied extensively. A major finding from the trials is the heterogeneity in its effects. Although the largest trials found no effect on common cold incidence, it was significantly reduced in trials with participants under heavy acute physical stress and in British males, the latter being explained as the result of a diet low in vitamin C when the studies were carried out (Hemilä 1996; Hemilä 1997b; Hemilä 2006; Hemilä 2013a). Thus, the effects of vitamin C on other respiratory infections, such as pneumonia, might also be modified



by various factors, such as physical stress and dietary vitamin C intake. Furthermore, two large trials found considerable divergence in the effects of vitamin C depending on the type of cold. Vitamin C decreased the incidence of 'chest colds' (-18%; cough or other chest symptoms) but not of 'simple colds' (+1%; runny nose or sneezing) (Elwood 1976; Hemilä 1997b). Similarly, vitamin C decreased the incidence of 'throat colds' (-21%) but not 'nose colds' (-2%) (Anderson 1973; Hemilä 1997b). These two trials thus suggest that vitamin C might have a greater effect on infections affecting the lower respiratory tract.

In close parallel with vitamin C, lipid-soluble vitamin E is interesting as these two antioxidants interact; vitamin C reduces oxidised vitamin E back to the reduced form (Hamilton 2000; Hemilä 2006; Hemilä 2009a; Packer 1979). In a large-scale trial the effect of vitamin E on the risk of pneumonia was significantly modified simultaneously by smoking and leisure-time physical activity, indicating heterogeneity in vitamin E effects between population groups (Hemilä 2011a). Even though direct extrapolation of findings from vitamin E studies to vitamin C are unjustified, the notion that various factors may modify the effects of antioxidants is fundamentally important in restricting broad generalisations from individual trials, irrespective of whether the finding is positive or negative and whether or not the trial is large and carefully conducted.

Approximately 10 mg/day of vitamin C prevents scurvy but the safe dose range extends to grams per day. In the US nutritional recommendations, the 'tolerable upper intake level' is stated to be 2 G/day for adults. However, the basis for this upper limit is the appearance of diarrhea (IOM 2000) which is a trivial adverse effect that disappears quickly with a reduction in intake. Furthermore, it has been stated that patients with pneumonia can take 100 G/day of vitamin C without developing diarrhea, possibly because of the changes in vitamin C metabolism (Cathcart 1981).

How the intervention might work

Vitamin C is an antioxidant and its effects may be most pronounced under conditions when oxidative stress is increased. Viral and bacterial infections lead to the activation of leukocytes, which generate reactive oxygen and nitrogen species that oxidise extracellular vitamin C (Akaike 2001; Galley 1996; Hemilä 1984). This mechanism explains the decrease in vitamin C levels in pneumonia patients and in other patients with infections (see above). The oxidised form of vitamin C is imported to leukocytes where it is reduced back to vitamin C and its concentration can become very high (Nualart 2003; Wang 1997). Exercise also causes oxidative stress because of increased oxygen consumption (Ashton 1999; Powers 2008).

In the immune system, the major role of vitamin C seems to be as a physiological antioxidant, protecting host cells against oxidative stress caused by infections. In various experimental settings vitamin C has, for example, affected random migration and chemotaxis of phagocytes (Goetzl 1974), the transformation of influenza virus-infected lymphocytes (Manzella 1979), the production of interferon (Siegel 1975), the replication of viruses (Bissell 1980) and gene expression of monocyte adhesion molecules (Rayment 2003); see reviews in: Beisel 1982, Hemilä 1997a, Thomas 1978 and Webb 2007. In dozens of animal studies, vitamin C increased resistance against diverse viral and bacterial infections and against purified bacterial toxins (Hemilä 2006). In a laboratory study, vitamin C deficiency increased the incidence of pneumonia in rhesus monkeys (Sabin 1939). In mice, influenza infection decreased vitamin C concentration in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (Buffinton 1992) and, also in mice, vitamin C deficiency increased lung pathology caused by influenza infection (Li 2006).

See the Discussion for further considerations on the possible mechanisms of vitamin C effect on pneumonia.

Why it is important to do this review

Pneumonia is a fairly common and severe infection and vitamin C is a safe and inexpensive essential nutrient. The possibility that vitamin C might affect susceptibility to pneumonia, even in restricted population groups, is worthy of examination. Similarly, the possibility that vitamin C treatment might affect the duration or severity of pneumonia, or both, is worthy of systematic consideration. One previous meta-analysis assessed the preventive effects of vitamin C on pneumonia (Hemilä 1997c) but the therapeutic effect on pneumonia was not assessed systematically before this review.

Links to the publications cited in this section, for which full-text versions are available, can be found at http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/ home/hemila/CP.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the prophylactic and therapeutic effects of vitamin C on pneumonia.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

For preventive trials of vitamin C supplementation we used controlled trials. The use of placebo was not required as it seems unlikely that being aware or not of taking vitamin C would affect the occurrence of a severe infection. Also, since a recent meta-analysis of trials comparing a placebo group with a no treatment group found no evidence of a placebo effect on binary outcomes (Hrobjartsson 2001; Hrobjartsson 2010), there is no empirical evidence indicating that the placebo effect might affect the occurrence of pneumonia.

For treatment trials of vitamin C on the severity and duration of pneumonia we used placebo-controlled trials since the outcome (for example, severity) may be affected by the awareness of the treatment by the patients. Also, the recent meta-analysis of trials comparing a placebo group with a no treatment group found evidence of a placebo effect in trials focusing on pain (Hrobjartsson 2001; Hrobjartsson 2010). A placebo control may, therefore, be crucial for the validity of treatment observations.

Types of participants

For prevention trials there was no age restriction in the participants.

For treatment trials we restricted trials to participants with pneumonia (both community-acquired and hospital-acquired (nosocomial) pneumonia) with no age restrictions.

Types of interventions

Administration of vitamin C (ascorbic acid or its salts) to one trial group, either orally or intravenously. There were no restrictions on the dosage and frequency of administration of vitamin C and treatment trials with a single dose were also considered. We excluded trials in which vitamin C was administered along with other substances, such as other vitamins. We included studies in which vitamin C had a co-intervention if the control group only had the co-intervention so that the only difference was vitamin C administration.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

Community-acquired pneumonia and hospital-acquired (nosocomial) pneumonia are very different types of medical conditions and we analysed them separately.

Community-acquired pneumonia

The preventive effect of vitamin C:

1. incidence of pneumonia during vitamin C supplementation.

The treatment effect of vitamin C:

- 1. duration and severity of pneumonic episodes;
- 2. death caused by pneumonia.

Hospital-acquired (nosocomial) pneumonia

The preventive effect of vitamin C:

1. incidence of pneumonia during vitamin C supplementation.

The treatment effect of vitamin C:

- 1. duration and severity of pneumonic episodes;
- 2. death caused by pneumonia.

For our review pneumonia was defined operationally as the disease that the original trial authors classified as pneumonia. The basis of the diagnosis by the original authors is described in the Description of studies section. We did not require that the pneumonia diagnosis was based on chest X-radiography (CXR) but we also accepted a clinical diagnosis of pneumonia (see Appendix 1 for detailed comments on this issue).

Secondary outcomes

- 1. Laboratory findings, such as C-reactive protein or erythrocyte sedimentation rate.
- 2. CXR changes and body temperature changes during treatment.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

For this 2013 update we searched the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) 2013, Issue 3, part of *The Cochrane Library*, www.thecochranelibrary.com (accessed 8 April 2013) which contains the Acute Respiratory Infections Group's Specialised

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Register, MEDLINE (1950 to March week 4, 2013), EMBASE (1974 to April 2013) and Web of Science (1945 to April 2013). Details of the original search are shown in Appendix 2.

We searched CENTRAL and MEDLINE using the following search strategy. We did not use a filter to identify randomised trials as there were few results. We adapted the search for EMBASE (Appendix 3) and Web of Science (Appendix 4).

1 exp Pneumonia/ 2 pneumon*.tw. 3 bronchopneumon*.tw. 4 exp Bronchitis/ 5 bronchit*.tw. 6 or/1-5 7 exp Ascorbic Acid/ 8 l-ascorb*.tw,nm. 9 ascorb*.tw,nm. 10 vitamin c.tw,nm. 11 vit c.tw,nm. 12 or/7-11 13 6 and 12

Searching other resources

Previously, Briggs 1984 carried out extensive searches of the literature and published a bibliography containing 413 references to papers related to vitamin C and infections. We perused the Briggs bibliography and other pertinent reviews and publications along with the results of the database searches. There were no language restrictions in the literature searches.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

The contact author (HH) searched the literature and both review authors (HH, PL) independently assessed the extracted titles and abstracts to identify potentially relevant articles. We excluded trials failing to meet the inclusion criteria. When we disagreed on the relevance of an article, we discussed it until we reached a consensus.

Data extraction and management

Both review authors (HH, PL) independently extracted relevant data from the articles selected. When we differed in the interpretation of study findings we sought a consensus. In their report, Hunt 1994 published the respiratory symptom scores for all participants and for the most severely ill patients; for this review we calculated the scores for the less ill patients.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

We recorded the following quality features of the trials: allocation concealment, blinding, proportion of drop-outs and other relevant features that may limit the validity of the trial. We did not calculate any quality scores for the selected trials since "quality scores are at best useless and at worst misleading" (Greenland 1994). We agree with the Shapiro 1997 comment that quality is best evaluated qualitatively. The*Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* also states that "The use of scales for assessing quality or risk of bias is explicitly discouraged in Cochrane reviews" (Higgins 2011).



Measures of treatment effect

We planned to calculate risk ratios (RR) for dichotomous outcome variables. However, in the identified prophylactic trials the number of pneumonia cases in the vitamin C groups was very low (zero to two cases) and, therefore, we decided to use the Peto method for calculating the odds ratio (OR), which does not need corrections for zero cell counts (Higgins 2011).

Also, with only a few cases observed in the prophylactic trial groups, the mid-P value is the most appropriate method to calculate the P values for the differences in the treatment groups (Hemilä 2006; Lydersen 2009) and was used when comparing groups with small numbers of cases. We used two-tailed P values in this review.

Unit of analysis issues

The Glazebrook 1942 study reported the number of pneumonia cases per seven administrative groups of the school. Thus, the unit of analysis is the group of schoolchildren in the administrative division. Glazebrook states that "The youths of one division worked as a unit, and occupied certain tables in the dining hall. To some extent each division occupied particular dormitories but this separation was not absolute and there was a fair amount of mixing of divisions in the sleeping quarters. Sleeping and feeding conditions were, of course, the same for all divisions. Careful records had been kept of the incidence of all infections for $1\frac{1}{2}$ years before the observations described here were begun. In the preceding year there had been an epidemic of tonsillitis, which had affected all the divisions uniformly, so that they could not be regarded as separate units within the larger population." Therefore, we consider that the schoolboys had a similar risk of pneumonia in each division and we carried out our primary analysis by the vitamin C and the no vitamin C groups. However, as a sensitivity analysis, we also analysed the data by administrative units (see Results).

Other studies included in our analyses do not have unit of analysis concerns.

Dealing with missing data

None of the trials had missing data that we needed to impute.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We assessed the heterogeneity of comparisons by using the I^2 statistic (Higgins 2003). This examines the percentage of total variation across studies that is due to heterogeneity rather than chance. A value of the I^2 statistic greater than about 70% indicates a high level of heterogeneity. We also used the Chi² test to calculate the probability that the observed heterogeneity was caused by chance.

Assessment of reporting biases

We did not construct funnel plots as we do not consider them to be useful when considering whether there is publication bias or not (loannidis 2007; Lau 2006; Sterne 2011).

Data synthesis

We planned that if a number of trials were available with sufficient uniformity in settings and outcome definitions, we would pool the data; but, if the trials were heterogeneous, either statistically or Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

clinically, we would present them separately. There is no statistical heterogeneity in Analysis 1.1 but the studies are clinically so divergent that pooling was inappropriate.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We included both community-acquired and hospital-acquired (nosocomial) pneumonia in this review. Due to their substantial clinical differences, we analysed them separately.

We did not require that pneumonia definition was based on CXR (Appendix 1) but we planned to carry out subgroup analyses based on the rigour of outcome definition (CXR or not) and on the level of blinding of outcome assessments. Given the trials we identified, this did not differ from the sensitivity analysis based on the methodological quality of the trials.

We did not set limits on the vitamin C doses for the inclusion of trials but we planned to carry out subgroup analyses based on dosage. In the preventive trials, we set the limit of subgroup analysis to 100 mg/day, since it is close to the dosage leading to maximum vitamin C plasma levels in healthy people. In the treatment trials, we set the limit of subgroup analysis to 1000 mg/day, since there is evidence of changes in vitamin C metabolism in infections and larger doses might be needed for significant therapeutic effects. We did not find suitable variation in the doses for a between-study subgroup analysis but there was within-study variation in the Mochalkin 1970 trial (Table 1).

Sensitivity analysis

Two of the identified trials were double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised controlled trials (RCTs) (Hunt 1994; Pitt 1979) whereas three studies were methodologically less satisfactory (Glazebrook 1942; Kimbarowski 1967; Mochalkin 1970). We carried out sensitivity analysis by excluding the latter three methodologically poorer quality trials.

Glazebrook 1942 had a unit of observation of an administrative group in a boarding school. In the primary analysis, we assumed a similar risk for each participant in each administrative unit but as a sensitivity analysis we also analysed their data by the administrative groups.

RESULTS

Description of studies

Results of the search

We identified no new trials for inclusion in the 2013 update searches (out of 125 records recovered). The MEDLINE search for the 2013 update retrieved 12 publications, the EMBASE search retrieved 119, the Web of Science search 21 and the CENTRAL search 0 publications. From these search results we found no new trials in addition to the earlier identified three controlled trials which provided data pertinent to the prevention of pneumonia with vitamin C supplementation and two trials which provided data on the therapeutic effect of vitamin C. For earlier searches, see Appendix 2. However, in the 2013 update we identified an earlier study which had been missed since 'pneumonia' was not listed in its key words (Tanaka 2000).

The main features of the included trials are summarised in the Characteristics of included studies table. The methods are

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Copyright ${\small ©}$ 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

described here in more detail, largely using direct excerpts from the original papers as these show the strengths and weaknesses of the trials in the words of the original trial authors.

Included studies

Only six trials were identified. Their main features are briefly summarised in the table Characteristics of included studies but described in detail in this section because their weaknesses and strengths are crucial when considering the validity of their findings and the possibility of extrapolating their findings.

Tanaka 2000

Tanaka 2000 was primarily interested in resuscitation fluid volume requirements and oedema generation in severely burnt patients. The study is reported as a "randomised study" but the methods section states that "randomisation was performed according to the month of admission" suggesting that randomisation may have been used as a synonym for allocation. There is no description of the level of blinding. Incidence of pneumonia is reported as a secondary outcome but the criteria for diagnosis are not described.

Hunt 1994

Hunt 1994 stated that "The patients enrolled into this . . . study were suffering from acute bronchitis (often acute exacerbation of chronic bronchitis) or bronchopneumonia. Patients suspected or known to be suffering from lung cancer were excluded from the study, as were those who were judged by the clinician to be at high risk of death within a day or two of admission" (page 213). Thus the patients in this study were a mixture of bronchitis and pneumonia patients, whereas in our methods section our purpose was to focus on pneumonia. However, with the soft clinical definition of pneumonia, as mentioned in the Background and Types of outcome measures sections and the high false negative proportion in CXR versus high-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) comparison (Appendix 1), we included this trial in our analysis. Nevertheless, the wider definition of lower respiratory tract infection in this trial needs to be considered when drawing conclusions. "The patients were enrolled over a period of three years and were admitted mainly in the winter months. . . acute respiratory infection had, in all cases, been the primary reason for hospitalisation" (page 213). "For consistency all clinical assessments were performed by the same Associate Specialist. Three main diagnostic features of infective respiratory conditions, namely cough, breathlessness and radiographic evidence of chest infection were used. Each was scored by the clinician according to severity. . . Then for each person, at each assessment interval, his or her three main diagnostic feature scores were added to give the 'total respiratory score'. By this procedure, the worst score that could be achieved by the most severely ill patient (whilst still alive) was 9, whilst those who were completely well with regard to the respiratory condition would score 3. A score of 10 was given for subjects who died during the trial. . . Assessments were made on admission (0 weeks) and at 2 and 4 weeks after admission. If patients were discharged from hospital as 'well' before 4 weeks, therapy was discontinued and they were assumed to remain well for up to 4 weeks, for the purpose of clinical scoring (none of the patients discharged were readmitted during their 4 week assessment period)" (page 213). "The clinical score results were approximately normally distributed..." (page 214), which allowed us to use the t-test in the comparison of the clinical score values. "After the initial clinical assessment . . . the patients commenced placebo or vitamin C therapy to which they were allocated on a randomised 'double-blind' basis. This was in addition to their normal medication" (page 213). Thus, the test of vitamin C effects was "over and above those of normal medication (mainly antibiotics and cough medicines) to which all participants were exposed" (page 217). "The vitamin C and placebo tablets were indistinguishable from each other by look or taste" (page 213). "None of the subjects who died on the trial had any secondary diagnosis, including ischaemic heart disease, and death was attributed directly to respiratory infection in each case" (page 217). At baseline, the mean plasma vitamin C level was 23.3 μ mol/L and 35% of patients had a vitamin C level lower than 11.4 μ mol/L (page 215). After four weeks, the vitamin C level was 94.9 μ mol/L (+307%) in the vitamin C group but only 24.4 μ mol/L (+5%) in the placebo group (page 215).

Pitt 1979

The authors of Pitt 1979 were primarily interested in the effect of vitamin C on the incidence of the common cold. However, other severe respiratory infections including pneumonia were also recorded. "The participants were male marine recruits who underwent 11 weeks of recruit training at Parris Island, South Carolina in October to December. . . Pill taking did not begin until the recruit's third week at Parris Island" (page 908). "These 862 recruits were assigned randomly to either the vitamin C or placebo group from a list of consecutive numbers randomised in pairs. Randomisation was carried out by individual recruits within each platoon" (page 908). "Of the 862 recruits who began taking the pills, 64 recruits (34, vitamin C; 30, placebo) were removed from their platoons by the US Marine Corps for further training or for discharge during the eight-week study period. An additional 123 recruits (64: vitamin C; 59: placebo) were excluded from the final analysis because they did not continue to take their pills for the eight-week study period. One additional recruit was eliminated from the vitamin C group because of recurrent urticaria related to taking the tablets" (page 909). "Before the initiation of pill taking, each recruit received adenovirus 4 and influenza vaccines and either intramuscular penicillin G benzathine or oral erythromycin estolate as streptococcal prophylaxis" (page 908). "Pill taking was supervised and observed by the drill instructors in each platoon. Neither the recruits or drill instructors nor the physicians and corpsmen who treated the recruits were aware of which pill any individual was taking" . . . "The placebo tablets were formulated from citric acid and were indistinguishable in appearance and taste from the vitamin C tablets" (page 908). "Pneumonia developed in eight recruits. . . Each of these eight recruits had typical roentgenographic and physical signs of pneumonia, although five recruits were febrile and only four recruits had elevated white blood cell counts. Pneumococci were isolated from the sputum in three recruits and seen intracellularly on Gram's stain in two other recruits. Two of these recruits also had four-fold increases in parainfluenza titers... Each of these recruits returned to his platoon after a mean Medical Dispensary stay of 4.4 days" (page 910). Pitt and Costrini did not estimate dietary vitamin C intake; however, their participants' mean vitamin C plasma level was rather high initially, 56 µmol/L (10 mg/L) (page 909), which would correspond to a dietary intake of 100 mg/day or more (Levine 1996). After six weeks, the vitamin C level was 77 µmol/L (+36%) in the vitamin C supplemented group and 52 μ mol/L (-7%) in the placebo group (page 909).



Mochalkin 1970

The paper by Mochalkin 1970 is in Russian and a translation into English is available. The selection criteria for the participants were not described; neither were many other methodologically relevant aspects. This is a three-arm trial with one control arm and two vitamin C arms with different doses. Placebo was not mentioned and probably was not used in the control arm. However, participants in two other trial arms were administered different doses of vitamin C and the lower-dose arm was used as the reference group in the primary analysis of this review because it seems unlikely that the difference between these arms might be explained by the placebo effect. "The group of patients comprised 140 males diagnosed with acute pneumonia hospitalised during the first two days of onset of the disease [124 patients were 20 to 60 years of age, and 16 were over 60 years]. Depending on the mode of basic treatment, the patients were divided into three groups: Group I (70 patients) was treated with antibiotics without ascorbic acid (25 patients were treated with penicillin, 15 with streptomycin, 15 with penicillin and streptomycin, and 15 with tetracycline); Group II (39 patients) was treated with antibiotics combined with vitamin C (50 mg per 100,000 antibiotic units) (15, 8, 8, 8 patients in the antibiotic groups, respectively); Group III (31 patients) was treated with antibiotics combined with ascorbic acid (100 mg per 100,000 antibiotic units) (10, 7, 7, 7 patients in the antibiotic groups, respectively)" (page 18). Ascorbic acid powder was taken orally. Both antibiotics and ascorbic acid were used for 10 days . . . All patients were tested under equal conditions of placement, care, and nutrition, and were subjected to a complex therapy which included antibiotics . . . To monitor the effectiveness of the employed methods of treatment, we used the following parameters: dynamics of temperature normalisation, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, leucocyte quantity in the peripheral blood, timing of wet rattle disappearance, duration of roentgenologicallydetermined changes in the lungs, and the mean period of recovery" (page 18). At baseline, the mean plasma vitamin C level was 41 µmol/L. After 10 days treatment, the vitamin C level was 43 μ mol/L (+7%) in the higher-dose vitamin C group and 35 μ mol/L (-15%) in the low-dose vitamin C group but only 23 μ mol/L (-44%) in the control group.

Kimbarowski 1967

The Kimbarowski 1967 trial was poorly described. Although published in German, an English translation is available. The main focus of the trial was to examine a chemical test, which is not relevant to the current review. However, as a secondary issue, in their report the authors reported the number of bronchopneumonia cases in vitamin C and control groups after hospitalisation. The trial authors excluded the pneumonia cases from their further study (page 2414). For this review the pneumonia cases are relevant since they occurred after vitamin C supplementation was initiated. Although the pneumonia cases occurred after hospitalisation, they occurred within a week and thus did not fall into the category of nosocomial pneumonia. "The studies were conducted with the use of soldiers almost all of whom were of the same age and received the same diet . . . The diagnosis of influenza was based mainly on the clinical pictures and epidemiological data with serological confirmation in a series of cases involving the type A virus." The geographic location where the trial was carried out, the military institution(s), the hospital in which the trial was carried out and the characteristics of the soldiers were not described. The allocation method was not described but the study arms were of closely similar size (112 versus 114 in the control and vitamin C arms, respectively, before excluding the bronchopneumonia cases) so it is probable that allocation occurred sequentially to the two trial arms. The two arms were well-balanced for severity of the influenza. The number of severe cases was 64 versus 65, moderate cases 26 versus 32 and mild cases 12 versus 14 in the two arms respectively (page 2414); the pneumonia cases were not included in these figures. A placebo was not mentioned in the paper and apparently was not used. Blinding of outcome assessment was not described. However, since pneumonia was a secondary issue in the study, the trial authors did not have reason to compare the number of pneumonia cases between the trial arms. It seems improbable, therefore, that the trial authors had substantial bias in their diagnosis of pneumonia. CXR ("Röntgenoscopie") was explicitly mentioned in the paper as a method that was used. It is probable that the diagnosis of bronchopneumonia was based on the CXR but this was not explicitly stated in the paper.

Glazebrook 1942

The Glazebrook 1942 trial was the oldest trial identified. The structure of the paper is quite different from more modern trial reports: "In a large training school under our observation there were some 1500 youths aged 15-20 years. For the most part they were drawn from the lower wage-earning classes . . . The food distribution [at the school] was badly managed. . . Often 8 hr. elapsed between the time the food was cooked and its arrival on the dining tables . . .The total intake of vitamin C varied from about 10 to 15 mg per student per day" (pages 4 to 5). "Pure ascorbic acid powder was added to . . . the morning cocoa, and an evening glass of milk. The mixing was done in bulk in the kitchens before issue. The powder dissolved quickly and easily, and did not alter the appearance or taste of the vehicle" (page 7). We consider that the trial corresponds functionally to a placebocontrolled trial because the participants were unable to identify the treatment, although no inactive powder was added to the food of the control group. "The establishment was divided into seven groups or divisions for administrative purposes. The youths of one division worked as a unit, and occupied certain tables in the dining hall. To some extent each division occupied particular dormitories but this separation was not absolute, and there was a fair amount of mixing of divisions in the sleeping quarters. Sleeping and feeding conditions were, of course, the same for all divisions. Careful records had been kept of the incidence of all infections for 11/2 years before the observations described here were begun. In the preceding year there had been an epidemic of tonsillitis, which had affected all the divisions uniformly, so that they could not be regarded as separate units within the larger populations" (page 12). "The observations were made by supplying vitamin C in the form of pure ascorbic acid to one or more divisions. This was considered to be the only practical method of carrying out the observations without introducing unnecessary complications. For example, it was not possible to choose boys at random as it would have been impossible to supply them with vitamin C-treated cocoa or milk in the dining room. With the method actually chosen, all that was necessary was to add vitamin C to the supplies of cocoa or milk serving the tables for the appropriate divisions" (page 12). "Moreover, all of the divisions had a population more or less the same as regards duration of stay in the establishment ('institution age'). Infectious diseases were more common amongst those who had more recently joined the institution" (page 12). "When a youth



felt ill he was admitted to Sick Quarters unless his complaint was very mild. . . The admission to and discharge from the hospital was not under our control " (pages 13 to 14). [As to pneumonia:] "These cases were subjected to special investigations by us (X-rays, etc.) to establish certain criteria for the diagnosis" (page 16). However, it was not stated whether the diagnosis of pneumonia was carried out by the trial authors of the paper or the physicians at the Sick Quarters. Although the method of diagnosing pneumonia was not described in detail in the paper, with the given descriptions and the severe pathological processes occurring in pneumonia it seems unlikely that vitamin C treatment would have substantially affected the diagnosis of pneumonia.

Excluded studies

Eleven excluded studies are described in the Characteristics of excluded studies table. Links to the trial reports and translations can be found at http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/CP.

Risk of bias in included studies

Two of the trials were double-blinded, placebo-controlled RCTs without serious methodological defects and, from the descriptions, there was appropriate allocation concealment in these trials (Hunt 1994; Pitt 1979). Four other trials had methodological shortcomings of varying degrees, as described in the previous section (Glazebrook 1942; Kimbarowski 1967; Mochalkin 1970; Tanaka 2000) and the possible role of these shortcomings in the interpretation of the study results is considered in the Discussion section.

The risk of bias is summarised in Figure 1.



Figure 1. 'Risk of bias' summary



Allocation

Pitt 1979 describes that marine recruits were assigned randomly to the groups from a list of consecutive numbers randomised in pairs. Randomisation was carried out by individual recruits within each platoon. Since the study was double-blind, allocation was concealed. Hunt 1994 states that patients commenced placebo or vitamin C therapy to which they were allocated on a randomised, double-blind basis, without giving further details. Since the study was double-blind, allocation was concealed. Glazebrook 1942 allocated schoolboys as administrative units of the boarding school. Thus, allocation was not concealed for the researchers but it may have been concealed for the schoolboys since the researchers pointed out that vitamin C was added in the kitchen and it did not alter the appearance or taste of the vehicle (cocoa or milk). The number of participants in the vitamin C and placebo arms of the Kimbarowski 1967 was closely equal suggesting alternative allocation but this is not explicitly stated. The report does not give any basis to assume allocation concealment by the researchers, while no conclusions can be drawn for the participants. Mochalkin 1970 has groups of quite different sizes indicating that it was not

Cochrane Library

randomised. No description is given about the forming of the study groups. Tanaka 2000 does not describe the method of allocation; although they use the term "randomised" it is possible that the groups were formed by the treatment month: "randomisation was performed according to the month of admission" (p.327).

Blinding

The Pitt 1979 and Hunt 1994 studies were double-blind. Glazebrook 1942 stated that vitamin C was added in the kitchen and it did not alter the appearance or taste of the vehicle (cocoa or milk), indicating that the participants were blinded for vitamin C administration (see Included studies). Glazebrook's description further indicates that the diagnosis of pneumonia was made in the Sick Quarter by physicians who were not involved in the study so that they probably were blinded as to the treatment group (see Included studies). The level of blinding cannot be concluded for the Kimbarowski 1967, Mochalkin 1970 and the Tanaka 2000 trials.

Incomplete outcome data

Pitt 1979 stated that 64 marine recruits (7.4% of the initial 862) were removed from their platoons and did not continue in the trial but there was no difference between the study arms. An additional 123 recruits (14.3% of the initial 862) were excluded from the analysis because they did take their pills but there was no difference between the study arms. One recruit was removed from the vitamin C group because of adverse effect. Thus, 22% of participants were not included in analysis but there was no difference between the study arms. Hunt 1994 states that four patients were excluded because of "incomplete information" without further details and 57 remained for the analysis; the distribution of the excluded patients is not described. The Glazebrook 1942 study was carried out in a boarding school and the report does not indicate that school children might have dropped out from the trial. Kimbarowski 1967 did not describe any drop-outs before pneumonia was diagnosed.

The Mochalkin 1970 study was carried out in a hospital in the former Soviet Union. No comment on drop-outs is given in the report. However, the distribution of the usage of four different antibiotic treatments is given in the three arms and these groups are identical in size within the arms which suggests that they were planned and that there were no drop-outs. In the Tanaka 2000 trial, there is no indication of drop-outs.

Selective reporting

Tanaka 2000, Pitt 1979, Kimbarowski 1967 and Glazebrook 1942 considered pneumonia either of secondary interest or as a nuisance and therefore the findings for pneumonia were not selectively reported because of the type of findings. Hunt 1994 was specifically interested in the treatment of pneumonia but there are no indications in the paper that the reported outcomes would have been selected from a larger set of outcomes. Mochalkin 1970 measured temperature, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, leukocyte level, time of wet rattle disappearance, time of normalisation of CXR and the mean period of recovery. All these outcomes were reported.

Other potential sources of bias

See the section Included studies above.

Effects of interventions

Preventing community-acquired pneumonia

1. Incidence of pneumonia

Three trials reported the number of pneumonia cases in the vitamin C and control groups. All these trials found an 80% or greater decrease in the incidence of pneumonia in the vitamin C group (Figure 2). Since the number of cases in the vitamin C groups was very low (zero to two cases in all of the trials) we used the Peto method for calculating the odds ratio (OR) as an approximation to the risk ratio (RR).

Figure 2. Prophylactic effect of vitamin C against pneumonia in three trials

	Vit (2	Contr	ol	Peto Odds Ratio	Peto Odd	ls Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Peto, Fixed, 95% Cl	Peto, Fixe	d, 95% Cl
Glazebrook 1942	0	335	17	1100	0.27 [0.09, 0.83]	+	
Kimbarowski 1967	2	114	10	112	0.24 [0.08, 0.77]	-+	
Pitt 1979	1	331	7	343	0.23 [0.06, 0.92]		
						0.02 0.1 1	10 50

Favours vitamin C Favours control

The confidence intervals (CI) in the three trials were wide and overlapped substantially and there is no evidence of statistical heterogeneity (Chi² (2 df) = 0.03 and I² statistic = 0%). However, the trials were clinically so heterogeneous that we did not calculate a pooled estimate of effect because we did not consider that such a pooled estimate was meaningful. Nevertheless, all three trials tested the general question of whether vitamin C differs from placebo regarding susceptibility to pneumonia.

We used the Peto OR method to calculate an estimate of OR and its 95% CI in Figure 2. However, with only a few observed cases, the exact 95% CI is more appropriate than the approximate 95% CI levels: for Glazebrook 1942, exact OR = 0.0 (95% CI 0.0 to 0.80; mid-P = 0.012), for Kimbarowski 1967, OR = 0.18 (95% CI 0.02 to 0.82; mid-P = 0.018) and for Pitt 1979, OR = 0.15 (95% CI 0.0 to 1.04; mid-P = 0.044). The combined mid-P value (2-t) for the three trials was 0.00004 (Hemilä 1997c), indicating that the differences between the vitamin C and control arms in these three trials were unlikely to be explained by random variation.

Subgroup and sensitivity analyses

We carried out sensitivity analysis in this set of prophylactic trials by excluding trials that did not use randomisation and placebo. This left Pitt 1979 as the only trial with high methodological quality. Nevertheless, the findings of the Pitt 1979 trial did not differ from the other two trials. As noted above, the trials were clinically heterogeneous and we do not expect the same treatment effect

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review) Copyright © 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



in such variable conditions. However, there was no evident trend for the most positive findings to occur in methodologically less satisfactory trials.

Subgroup analysis by vitamin C dosage of less or more than 100 mg/ day did not reveal any effect of the dose. However, the trials were clinically so heterogeneous and the number of cases so low that we could not make any conclusions about dose-dependency. All three trials mentioned the usage of the chest radiograph (CXR) but none of them provided a well-defined case definition of pneumonia. Thus we did not carry out a subgroup analysis by use of a CXR for diagnosis.

In the Glazebrook 1942 trial, allocation to treatment groups was carried out by institute 'divisions' and not on the basis of individual boys. Therefore, we also analysed the Glazebrook 1942 trial using the 'division' as the unit of observation. Distribution of pneumonia cases in the five control divisions was 5, 3, 2, 4 and 3 (mean 3.4 cases per division) and in the two vitamin C divisions it was 0 and 0. We assumed that the mean of the control divisions was a suitable estimate for the Poisson distribution mean and used that assumption as a basis for statistical analysis. The size of the individual divisions was not stated in the paper but the two vitamin C divisions 220 boys (1100/5), thus the size of the vitamin C divisions

was 0.76 times the size of the control divisions. We adjusted the mean incidence by this ratio, so that we expected 2.6 pneumonia cases per vitamin C division, assuming the same incidence as for the control divisions. With this Poisson mean, we calculated the probability that there was no case of pneumonia in two separate vitamin C divisions as having a P value of 0.006. Accordingly, using a 'division' as the unit of observation does not change the conclusions.

Treating community-acquired pneumonia

Two trials examined the effect of vitamin C on patients with pneumonia (Mochalkin 1970), or pneumonia and bronchitis (Hunt 1994).

1. Duration and severity of pneumonic episodes

As a measure of pneumonia severity, Hunt 1994 used 'total respiratory score', which had a range from three (least ill) to nine (most ill) and 10 (dead). On this pneumonia severity score, vitamin C caused a marginally significant benefit at four weeks: P = 0.053, which is based on a decrease in the respiratory score: -2.31 (standard deviation (SD) 2.44) versus -3.43 (SD 1.77) in the placebo and vitamin C groups, respectively. However, the benefit was restricted to patients who were most severely ill when admitted to the hospital (see subgroup analysis below; Figure 3).

Figure 3. Effect of vitamin C on the respiratory symptom score (scale 3 to 10) in Hunt 1994



Test for subgroup differences: Chi² = 4.21, df = 1 (P = 0.04), l² = 76.2%

Mochalkin 1970 had three trial arms: control, low vitamin C and high vitamin C. The control arm was not administered a placebo. Therefore, we restricted our main analysis to the comparison of the two vitamin C arms so that the low vitamin C group served as the placebo group in the comparison (Figure 4). Because of Mochalkin's protocol, the mean vitamin C dose of the higher-dose arm was double that of the lower-dose arm, although the dosage ranges within both vitamin C arms overlapped (see Characteristics of included studies). There was a statistically highly significant decrease in the duration of pneumonia in the high vitamin C dose arm compared with the low dose arm (Figure 4; P < 0.0001).

Figure 4. Effect of vitamin C on the duration of hospital stay (days) in Mochalkin 1970

	Hig	jh vit C	;	Lo	w vit (Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Fixed, 95% Cl	IV, Fixed, 95% Cl
Mochalkin 1970	15.1	3.23	31	19.1	4.56	39	-4.00 [-5.83, -2.17]	
Total (95% CI)			31			39	-4.00 [-5.83, -2.17]	◆
Heterogeneity: Not a Test for overall effect	•••).0001)					-10 -5 0 5 10 Favours high vit C Favours low vit C

2. Death caused by pneumonia

Hunt 1994 found an 85% lower mortality in the vitamin C group compared with the placebo group but this comparison was based on six cases only (Analysis 2.2; mid-P = 0.12). All deaths occurred in the patients who were most severely ill when admitted to the hospital and all deaths were caused by the respiratory infection.

Subgroup and sensitivity analyses

Hunt 1994 published the total respiratory score values for all participants and for the most severely ill participants (baseline score eight or nine). We calculated the mean scores in the less ill patients (baseline score seven or less). There is significant heterogeneity in the effect of vitamin C on the more ill and the less ill patients with P = 0.02 and I² = 76% (Figure 3). The benefit of vitamin C was restricted to patients who were most severely ill when admitted to the hospital (P = 0.02). The most severely ill patients had substantially lower vitamin C plasma levels compared with the less ill patients (20 versus 26 μ mol/l, respectively). In the patients less ill when admitted, there was no difference in the change of respiratory scores between the trial arms (Figure 3).

We had planned a subgroup analysis of therapeutic trials by vitamin C dosage: less and more than 1 G/day. Hunt 1994 used only 0.2 G/ day. One of the Mochalkin 1970 arms was lower than 1 G/day but the other arm had a range over 1 G/day and the planned subgroup analysis was thus not possible. However, the secondary analysis of the Mochalkin 1970 study suggests dose-dependency (Table 1). The duration of recovery was reduced from 23.7 days in the control group by 4.6 days (19%) in the low-dose vitamin C arm and by 8.6 days (36%) in the high-dose vitamin C arm. Since the mean vitamin C dose in the high vitamin C arm was exactly twice the mean of the lower vitamin C arm, the linearity in dose response is striking (Table 1).

Sensitivity analysis based on the rejection of trials which were not randomised left the Hunt 1994 trial as the only trial with high quality methodology. Thus, here too there was no evident trend that positive findings might be simply explained by methodological shortcomings of the trials. Both therapeutic trials used CXR when evaluating patients but neither provided a well-defined case definition of pneumonia; nor of lower respiratory tract infection in the Hunt 1994 trial. Mochalkin 1970 used normalisation of CXR as one of their outcomes, which implies that changes in CXR were included in their criteria to define pneumonia.

Secondary outcomes

1. Laboratory findings

C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were not reported in the therapeutic studies. Mochalkin 1970 reported the proportion of participants

who had normalisation of erythrocyte sedimentation rate within 16 days (Table 1).

2. CXR changes and body temperature changes during treatment

Mochalkin 1970 reported the proportion of participants with normalisation of the CXR in 10 days and with no fever after seven days (Table 1).

Secondary analyses

As a secondary analysis we present the results of the three arms of the Mochalkin 1970 trial in Table 1. The control arm did not receive placebo. Mochalkin reported the proportion of participants who had normalisation of erythrocyte sedimentation rate, who had no fever after seven days and who had normalisation of the CXR in 10 days. For each outcome, the vitamin C arms fared significantly better than the control arm. The number needed to treat to benefit (NNTB) was around two to five for the three outcomes compared to the control group (Table 1).

Preventing hospital-acquired pneumonia

1. Incidence of pneumonia

Tanaka 2000 reported the incidence of pneumonia within two weeks in severely burned patients after one day of vitamin C administration. No difference between the groups was seen (Analysis 2.1). However, vitamin C levels had returned to normal within three days and the confidence intervals are wide; the study is therefore not informative.

Treating hospital-acquired pneumonia

We did not identify any trials giving information on the effect of vitamin C in treating hospital-acquired pneumonia.

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

We identified three prophylactic trials which recorded 37 cases of community-acquired pneumonia in 2335 people, two therapeutic trials involving 197 community-acquired pneumonia patients and one prophylactic trial recording 13 cases of hospital-acquired pneumonia in 37 patients. The studies on community-acquired pneumonia found a benefit of vitamin C but the trial on hospital-acquired pneumonia did not. One prophylactic and one therapeutic trial on community-acquired pneumonia were satisfactorily randomised, double-blind and placebo-controlled and thus the benefits were not restricted to methodologically less satisfactory trials. However, the five community-acquired pneumonia trials with positive findings were all carried out in

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

conditions that are far from the ordinary way of life for people living in high-income countries.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

We consider that the positive findings of five analysed pneumonia trials (Glazebrook 1942; Hunt 1994; Kimbarowski 1967; Mochalkin 1970; Pitt 1979) are reliable and the studies indicate a biological effect of vitamin C. However, in our view great caution is required in the extrapolation of the findings because of limitations caused by various biological factors, for example, the kind of participants used in the trials and vitamin C amounts in the diet.

Participants in the trials and the incidence of pneumonia

Both Pitt 1979 and Kimbarowski 1967 examined soldiers which means substantially dissimilar living conditions compared with ordinary adults. Furthermore, Kimbarowski's soldiers were hospitalised because of influenza, making them a very special group of people. Glazebrook 1942 studied teenage boys in a UK boarding school during World War II. The age range of the Hunt 1994 patients was from 66 to 94 years, obviously restricting any generalisations towards young people. Mochalkin 1970 included a wide age range of participants but their social and nutritional backgrounds were not described in the paper.

An important feature related to the participant selection in the prevention trials was the very high incidence of pneumonia. Glazebrook 1942 and Pitt 1979 recorded 60 and 120 cases of pneumonia per 1000 person-years in their control arms, respectively and Kimbarowski 1967 reported that 10% of their control arm became sick with pneumonia within one week after hospitalisation because of influenza.

In the ordinary middle-aged Western population, the incidence of pneumonia is one to three per 1000 person-years (Baik 2000; Hemilä 2004b). In contrast, in military recruits much higher rates of pneumonia have been reported. The average incidence of pneumonia in marine and naval recruits in the 1970s was 60 per 1000 person-years in a US study (Pazzaglia 1983) which is of the same magnitude as the pneumonia rates in the Glazebrook 1942 and Pitt 1979 trials. Thus, the high incidence of pneumonia makes the conditions of all the three prevention trials very special and limits generalisations of their results. Nevertheless, the consistency in positive findings indicates that vitamin C may influence pneumonia risk in some groups of people.

Vitamin C dose in diet and supplements

An issue of great importance in the interpretation of vitamin C supplementation trials is the level of vitamin C intake in the diet and in the supplements. A different outcome between vitamin C and control arms may result from a very low dietary intake in the control arm ('marginal vitamin C deficiency') or from the high-dose supplementation in the vitamin C arm. In the former case, a small dosage of supplement might produce a similar effect, whereas in the latter case the large dose is essential. As reference levels, scurvy may be caused by vitamin C intakes of less than 10 mg/day, whereas the mean vitamin C intake in the USA is about 100 mg/day (IOM 2000). Previously, a low dietary vitamin C intake level was proposed to explain the reduction in common cold incidence by vitamin C in a set of trials with UK males receiving vitamin C supplementation (Hemilä 1997b; Hemilä 2006).

Glazebrook 1942 estimated that their participants got only 10 to 15 mg/day of vitamin C in their diet, so that the baseline intake was close to scurvy levels. Kimbarowski 1967 and Mochalkin 1970 carried out their studies in the former Soviet Union and it seems highly unlikely that their diet was rich in vitamin C. Hunt 1994 reported overall low plasma levels of vitamin C and the benefit of vitamin C was restricted to the most ill patients who had particularly low vitamin C levels at the baseline: only 20 µmol/L (Figure 3). In the Mochalkin 1970 trial, plasma vitamin C level dropped to 23 µmol/ L during the hospital stay in the control group, whereas vitamin C level remained at 43 µmol/L in the high vitamin C dose group. Thus, in these trials control participants may have been suffering from 'marginal vitamin C deficiency'. Low vitamin C levels are not rare in Western hospital patients nor in the Western general community (for example Mosdøl 2008; Raynaud-Simon 2010; Schleicher 2009). Thus, if pneumonia risk is increased by low intakes of vitamin C, this issue may be important also in high-income communities and not just in low-income countries.

The explanation based on 'marginal deficiency' is not applicable to the Pitt 1979 trial with US marine recruits, which reported high baseline vitamin C levels. In the Pitt trial, the baseline plasma vitamin C level was 56 μ mol/L, which corresponds to a dietary intake of 100 mg/day or more (Levine 1996). Thus, low dietary vitamin C intake does not explain the benefits of supplementation in the Pitt 1979 trial. Furthermore, this trial used the highest vitamin C dose of the five trials: 2 G/day.

The explanation of 'marginal deficiency' is also not applicable to the comparison between the two vitamin C arms of the Mochalkin 1970 trial. The dose-dependency over the three arms of the Mochalkin trial indicates that the therapeutic effect of vitamin C supplementation was not just limited to treating 'marginal deficiency' (Table 1). If the vitamin C effect simply alleviated the marginal deficiency, we would not expect difference between the two vitamin C doses. An indication of linear dose-dependency up to 6 G/day of vitamin C was also found in a common cold trial by Karlowski 1975 (see also Hemilä 1999a; Hemilä 2006).

Physical activity

Participants of the Pitt 1979 trial were marine recruits in a training camp, which means heavy physical activity. There is much evidence that physical activity increases the generation of reactive oxygen species (Powers 2008) and, in an electron spin resonance study, the administration of vitamin C prevented exercise-induced oxidative stress (Ashton 1999). Therefore an increased intake of vitamin C might be beneficial for physically stressed people. In support of this view, vitamin C halved the risk of the common cold in five trials with participants under heavy acute physical stress (Hemilä 1996; Hemilä 2013a) and halved the exercise-induced FEV₁ decline in three trials with participants who suffered from exercise-induced bronchoconstriction (Hemilä 2013b). It is also worth noting that vitamin E, a lipid-soluble antioxidant which interacts with vitamin C, significantly reduced the incidence of pneumonia in middleaged males who carried out leisure time exercise but had no effect on sedentary men, which also indicates that physical activity may modify the effects of antioxidants (Hemilä 2011a).

Thus, it is probable that the heavy physical training of the military recruits of the Pitt 1979 trial is the reason why the high-dose vitamin C supplementation was beneficial for the participants of that trial, but the findings should not be extrapolated to a

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Copyright ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



sedentary population. Several trials with military personnel have found benefit of vitamin C against respiratory infections, which may be explained by heavy physical activity and also by crowded accommodations (Hemilä 2004a).

Diagnosis of pneumonia

Hunt 1994 combined the cases of acute bronchitis and pneumonia together. In young people, acute bronchitis usually has a viral aetiology, whereas the majority of pneumonia cases are caused by bacteria. However, Hunt 1994 patients were all over 60 years of age and their acute bronchitis was "often acute exacerbation of chronic bronchitis", implying bacterial aetiology. The clinical definition of pneumonia is soft and chest X-ray (CXR) has a substantial proportion of false negatives. For such reasons the combined outcome used in the Hunt 1994 trial was appropriate in the current review.

There is no unambiguous clinical definition of pneumonia and this evidently limits the applicability of any studies on pneumonia. See Appendix 1.

Hospital-acquired pneumonia

Tanaka 2000 administered vitamin C for one day only but recorded pneumonia cases for two weeks. Thus, the followup was substantially longer than the vitamin C administration. Furthermore, the confidence interval is wide and does not refute benefits. We consider that this trial is not informative about the potential effects of vitamin C on hospital-acquired pneumonia.

Quality of the evidence

In this section we focus on the five trials with positive findings; we briefly comment on the Tanaka 2000 trial at the end of this section.

Two of the five positive trials were placebo-controlled, randomised trials, whereas the other three trials were technically deficient to varying degrees. Here we consider whether potential biases could explain the differences between the vitamin C and control groups.

The concept of **publication bias** is based on an assumption that researchers tend to report a study if the result is 'positive' and tend to leave it unreported if the result is 'negative'. With this reasoning, it might be possible that the five trials analysed in this review were published just because of the significant benefit of vitamin C, whereas there might be several trials unpublished because of their negative results. However, the three papers reporting on the prophylactic effect of vitamin C were published separately from the vitamin C effects on pneumonia; the effect on pneumonia was not the motive for publication. Glazebrook 1942 was mainly interested in the common cold and tonsillitis and the effect on pneumonia was mentioned as a secondary issue, indicating that this finding was not the reason for publication. Kimbarowski 1967 considered pneumonia as a nuisance in their trial as they focused on a chemical test. They did not pay any attention to the substantial difference in the occurrence of pneumonia in the trial arms and, for example, in their summary the pneumonia cases in both trial arms were combined. Pitt 1979 focused on the common cold and pneumonia was a secondary outcome which was reported in the text but not in the abstract. Thus publication bias cannot explain this set of three prophylactic trials. Low interest in the effect of vitamin C on pneumonia is also relevant when considering detection bias (see below).

Hunt 1994 found that the effect of vitamin C was limited to the patients with the lowest vitamin C levels and Mochalkin 1970 found a linear dose-response relation in the two vitamin C arms compared with the control group (Table 1). Neither Hunt nor Mochalkin put proper emphasis on these findings and thus they were not the reason for publication. Publication bias is not a reasonable explanation for the reported positive findings.

Selection bias means that there are systematic differences in the compared groups at baseline. In prophylactic trials, there is a low possibility of bias caused by baseline differences between the treatment arms. Maldistribution of a strong risk factor, such as smoking in a study on lung cancer, would lead to erroneous conclusions on less important risk factors. However, cohort studies have not identified strong risk factors for community-acquired pneumonia, with the age of the person being the most important factor (Baik 2000; Hemilä 2004b). Thus, to explain an 80% or greater reduction in the incidence of pneumonia in the vitamin C arms (Figure 2) there should be spectacular maldistribution in a strong risk factor for pneumonia. Furthermore, the Pitt 1979 trial was randomised and double-blind and Glazebrook 1942 used preformed divisions and explicitly considered that the groups of were similar. In the Kimbarowski 1967 trial, the severity of influenza probably was the most important risk factor for the occurrence of pneumonia but it was distributed evenly between the trial arms.

In therapeutic trials, the baseline severity of disease is a factor of obvious importance. The Hunt 1994 trial was randomised and allocation was concealed. Furthermore, the distribution of 'acute bronchitis' and 'bronchopneumonia' and the proportion of 'most severely ill' were closely similar in the treatment arms. Mochalkin 1970 did not describe the distribution of pneumonia severity but antibiotic treatments were distributed evenly in the three arms, so that if the selection of antibiotics depended on the clinical symptoms they were also divided evenly. Thus, it seems unlikely that systematic baseline differences between the trial arms would explain the benefits observed in the vitamin C arms.

Performance bias means systematic differences in the care provided, apart from the intervention being evaluated. The Hunt 1994 and Pitt 1979 trials were double-blinded. According to the Glazebrook 1942 description, the boys in different divisions were treated equally. Kimbarowski 1967 stated that the participants received the same diet which is obviously essential in a vitamin C study but otherwise the similarity of other treatments was not mentioned. Mochalkin 1970 stated that all patients were tested under equal conditions of placement, care and nutrition and, as noted above, the use of antibiotics was similar in the treatment arms. Although Mochalkin did not use a placebo in the control group, performance bias does not reasonably explain the difference between the two vitamin C arms (Figure 4; Table 1). Furthermore, given the significant difference between the two vitamin C groups, it is not reasonable to assume that the difference between the control group and the low-dose vitamin C group is caused by factors other than vitamin C. Such an explanation would presuppose that low vitamin C levels are ineffective and there is a threshold dose over which vitamin C starts to be effective. Such a doseresponse model would be opposite to the findings of many studies, indicating that in many cases the benefits are more pronounced in the low-dose region (see above section 'Vitamin C dose in diet and supplements').

Thus, in two trials there was good evidence that participants were treated equally except for the vitamin C supplementation and in the other trials there was no explicit reason to assume that the other treatments would substantially differ between the trial arms.

Attrition bias means high or divergent drop-out proportions and does not seem to be a substantial concern in these five trials. The three trials examining the preventive effect of vitamin C were carried out within military organisations or in a boarding school. Such a background and the descriptions in the papers did not suggest a considerable drop-out problem. Pitt 1979 stated that 22% of the initial population were removed from their platoons or did not continue to take their pills and were not included in the final analysis, but the drop-outs were distributed evenly in the treatment arms. Hunt 1994 followed up the patients for four weeks and did not report any drop-outs. Mochalkin 1970 did not comment on dropouts but the distribution of antibiotic usage was even in the trial arms, which would seem to exclude any drop-outs.

Detection bias means systematic differences in outcome assessment. The Hunt 1994 and Pitt 1979 trials were doubleblinded and bias caused by the knowledge of participants or investigators was unlikely to have affected the outcome assessment. As noted above, in the Glazebrook 1942, Kimbarowski 1967 and Pitt 1979 trials, pneumonia was a secondary issue and it is unlikely that under such conditions the investigators would have any tendency to diagnose pneumonia differently in the trial arms. The Mochalkin 1970 report did not allow any direct or indirect conclusions on the possibility of detection bias.

Even though three of the trials with positive results were methodologically less satisfactory in comparison with modern trial standards, the positive findings of these three trials are not easily explained by biases.

Tanaka 2000 trial was poorly described and the allocation method and level of blinding are not clear from the study report. Nevertheless, we would not ignore the trial on the basis of these methodological shortcomings. Vitamin C was administered for one day only but the pneumonia cases were recorded for two weeks. In addition the confidence interval is wide and does not preclude benefits. We consider that these issues make the study uninformative about the role of vitamin C on hospital-acquired pneumonia.

Potential biases in the review process

Our search of databases for trials meeting the criteria for our review was exhaustive but we also read reference lists of several reviews, such as Briggs 1984, which contained 413 references to papers related to vitamin C and infections. Although there might be unpublished trials or trials published in very difficult to access journals or books, it seems unlikely that we could have missed large controlled trials.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

Although the proponents of evidence-based medicine argue that "if you find that the study was not randomised, we'd suggest that you stop reading it and go on to the next article" (Sackett 1997) we consider that cohort studies can give an important perspective to the relation between vitamin C intake and pneumonia risk. A cohort study found no association between vitamin C intake and community-acquired pneumonia in middle-aged men in the USA (Merchant 2004). However, there are substantial differences between this cohort study and the three prophylactic trials in Figure 2. Merchant 2004 investigated male US health professionals of 40 to 75 years of age, the selection of which meant a population with a much greater than average interest in factors that affect health and whose working conditions are quite sedentary. In Merchant's cohort, the median vitamin C intake of the lowest quintile was 95 mg/day and the overall median was 218 mg/ day, whereas the overall median of the ordinary US population is about 100 mg/day (IOM 2000). Thus vitamin C intake in Merchant's cohort was substantially higher than in the three prophylactic trials analysed in this review and the living conditions were very different compared with the three trials. Furthermore, pneumonia incidence was three cases per 1000 person-years. Thus, the Merchant cohort study indicates that the level of vitamin C intake does not affect pneumonia risk in sedentary, health-conscious, middleaged, upper class populations when the dietary vitamin C intake is over 100 mg/day. Still, their findings cannot be extrapolated to substantially different population groups such as those in the three prophylactic trials analysed in the current review. Nevertheless, the Merchant cohort study sets certain limits to the putative generalisations of the analysed trials. Thus, we consider that biological differences, rather than methodological differences, are the most appropriate explanations for the divergence in the role of vitamin C in Merchant 2004 and the intervention trials in Figure 2.

Some further trials also are relevant to the current topic. Dahlberg 1944 reported respiratory infections which were more severe than the common cold in military recruits (five in the vitamin C group, 10 in the control group of the same size; risk ratio (RR) 0.5, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.2 to 1.5) but their outcome included otitis and sinusitis and not just lower respiratory infections.

Nathens 2002 reported that in critically ill intensive care unit (ICU) patients vitamin C and E combination had no effect on pneumonia risk (RR 0.79, 95% CI 0.53 to 1.20). However, patients in the vitamin C and E group required 0.9 days (95% CI 0.6 to 1.2 days) less mechanical ventilatory support and had a 1.2 day (95% CI 0.81 to 1.5 days) reduction in their ICU length of stay, indicating benefits of antioxidant supplementation. However, the role of vitamin C *per se* is ambiguous and the benefit was for an outcome not directly linked to infection, even though a longer ICU stay is associated with a greater risk of pneumonia. In their trial with severe burn patients, Tanaka 2000 found a 43% (P = 0.03) reduction in the duration of mechanical ventilation and a significant decrease in infusion fluid volumes from one-day, large-dose vitamin C administration, even though the incidence of hospital-acquired pneumonia was not influenced (Analysis 3.1).

Mahalanabis 2006a reported that 400 mg vitamin E and 200 mg vitamin C per day had no therapeutic effect on 2 to 35-month old children with severe acute lower respiratory infection. However, the vitamin E dose was very high for children of this age; for example in the ATBC Study it was 50 mg/day for middle-aged males (Hemilä 2004b). Thus, Mahalanabis 2006a does not allow any specific conclusions on the possible role of vitamin C.

Safety of vitamin C

Pitt 1979 administered 2 G/day of vitamin C to 331 participants for two months. None of the reported symptoms that participants

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



thought to be caused by the pills were statistically more frequent in the vitamin C than in the placebo arm. Urticaria developed in one recruit in the vitamin C arm which subsided when the pills were withheld and recurred when he resumed taking his pills. He was instructed to stop taking pills and was excluded from the final analysis. The other trials used lower vitamin C doses and are uninformative on the safety of high vitamin C doses.

In general, vitamin C is considered safe in doses up to several grams per day and although there has been speculation about potential harms of large doses this has been shown to be unfounded (Hathcock 2005; Hemilä 2006; Rivers 1987). For example, in a pharmacokinetic study, participants were administered up to 100 G of vitamin C intravenously within a few hours without any reported adverse effects, indicating the safety of such a large dose in healthy people (Padayatty 2004). Cathcart 1981 reported that he had administered orally over 100 G per day of vitamin C to pneumonia patients, which indicates the safety of such high doses for pneumonia patients, although such an uncontrolled observation does not provide evidence of benefit. Large doses of vitamin C have also been administered intravenously for numerous patients without adverse effects (Padayatty 2010).

Two large-scale trials with 8171 female health professionals and 14,641 male physicians found no adverse effects of 0.5 G/day of vitamin C when administered for eight to nine years, indicating the long-term safety of such a dosage level (Cook 2007; Sesso 2008).

There are few reports of severe harm caused by high-dose vitamin C administration and the death of a 68-year old African American man was not attributed to intravenous injection of 80 G of vitamin C on two consecutive days *per se* but to his coincident glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) deficiency (Campbell 1975). Such isolated unfortunate events have no public health importance but they indicate that people with G6PD should avoid large doses of vitamin C.

Mechanism of effect

Our review is largely based on the concept that vitamin C affects the immune system, which explains the protection from infections in animals (Hemilä 2006). Such immune system effects are plausible explanations for the benefits observed in the prophylactic trials (Figure 2). However, vitamin C also has non-immune effects that may be relevant in therapeutic trials.

Vitamin C participates in the synthesis of norepinephrine and a series of neuropeptides (Rice 2000) and carnitine which participates in energy metabolism (Hughes 1988; Jones 1982). In a study of experimentally induced vitamin C deficiency, Kinsman 1971 compared high and low levels of vitamin C in whole blood (93 μ mol/L and 25 μ mol/L) and found that "scores in the neurotic triad of the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (the hypochondriasis, depression and hysteria scales) became elevated as deficiency of vitamin C progressed". Therefore, it is possible that in a therapeutic setting the influence of vitamin C is not limited to the immune system. Vitamin C levels in whole blood are higher than plasma levels and thus Kinsman's levels cannot be directly compared with the low plasma levels reported by Hunt 1994 and Mochalkin 1970 (ca 20 µmol/L). Still, low vitamin C levels might cause psychological symptoms, for which vitamin C supplementation might be beneficial. Some of the early case reports of pneumonia patients described particularly rapid benefits

of vitamin C (Bohnholtzer 1937; Dalton 1962; Hochwald 1937; Klenner 1948) and such rapid benefits might be caused by nonimmunological effects of vitamin C, rather than by immunological mechanisms.

Consistent with the concept that vitamin C might have an influence on general well-being, a recent study reported that vitamin C administration improved the mood of acutely hospitalised patients (Zhang 2011). It is noteworthy that in the Mochalkin 1970 trial the vitamin C level dropped by 44% in 10 days in the control group (Table 1), consistent with other studies that have found reductions in vitamin C levels with infections (Hemilä 2006). Neither Hunt 1994 nor Mochalkin 1970 measured any index of general well-being or psychological status.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

Vitamin C is relatively cheap and it is safe in doses of grams per day. Nevertheless, with the current evidence there is no basis for the prophylactic use of vitamin C to prevent pneumonia because it would require continuous supplementation with poorly understood effects.

While waiting for new trials, therapeutic vitamin C supplementation may be reasonable for patients with pneumonia who have low vitamin C plasma levels, since therapeutic administration is limited in time. With the low price of vitamin C, the cost-benefit ratio may be reasonable even if the benefit might be substantially lower than that observed in the therapeutic trials analysed in this review.

Implications for research

The incidence of pneumonia is low in the middle-aged population in Western countries (1 to 3 per 1000 person-years) and there is no rationale for studying the prophylactic effect of vitamin C in such a population. Even if vitamin C might have a small effect, the low baseline incidence would lead to a very high number needed to treat to benefit (NNTB).

Certain populations have a high risk of pneumonia. In low-income countries the incidence of pneumonia in children has been up to 400 cases per 1000 person-years (Paynter 2010). In many low-income countries the prevalence of malnutrition is high, indicating low vitamin C intakes (Hemilä 2007a). Elderly people also have an elevated risk of pneumonia, since the incidence increases with age (Baik 2000; Hemilä 2004b). A further population group with a particularly high risk of pneumonia is military recruits (Pazzaglia 1983).

Even if the benefit of vitamin C was substantially lower than in the three prophylactic trials analysed in this review, the effect may still be important in populations with a high incidence of pneumonia. For example, with a baseline pneumonia incidence of 60 per 1000 person-years, a reduction of risk by half would correspond to a NNTB of 33 over one year of such a high risk.

In the USA, pneumonia is the sixth most common cause of death and the most common cause of infection-related mortality, reflecting its importance (Mandell 2010). Therapeutic trials on vitamin C in pneumonia patients should be carried out, in particular in patients with low vitamin C plasma levels but possibly also in participants with ordinary plasma vitamin C levels. The outcomes

of therapeutic trials should include soft outcomes measuring wellbeing because vitamin C may also have non-immune effects, especially in participants with very low plasma vitamin C levels and pneumonia *per se* leads to a substantial reduction in vitamin C levels.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

English translation of the Gander 1936 paper was kindly arranged by Eva Wintergerst from Bayer Consumer Care AG, Basel, Switzerland. English translations of the Bohnholtzer 1937 and Hochwald 1937 papers were kindly arranged by Angelique Boyer from Proctor and Gamble Co, Cincinnati, OH.

We are grateful to Sharon Gudu, Anwar Merchant, Vladimir Bakaev, Andrey Duntau, Bahi Takkouche, Lize van der Merwe and Paul Glasziou for commenting on the draft protocol, which helped us to rewrite the Methods section.

Finally, the authors would like to thank the following people who commented on the draft review: Ann Fonfa, Vladimir Bakaev, Andrey Duntau, Anwar Merchant, Rob Ware and Chris Del Mar.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Glazebrook 1942 {published data only}

Glazebrook AJ, Thomson S. The administration of vitamin C in a large institution and its effect on general health and resistance to infection. *Journal of Hygiene* 1942;**42**:1-19. [http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2199803/; PUBMED: 20475613]

Hunt 1994 {published data only}

Hunt C, Chakravorty NK, Annan G, Habibzadeh N, Schorah CJ. The clinical effects of vitamin C supplementation in elderly hospitalised patients with acute respiratory infections. *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research* 1994;**64**(3):212-9. [http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/CP/ Hunt1994.pdf; PUBMED: 7814237]

Kimbarowski 1967 {published data only}

Kimbarowski JA, Mokrow NJ. Colored precipitation reaction of the urine according to Kimbarowski as an index of the effect of ascorbic acid during treatment of viral influenza [Farbige Ausfällungsreaktion des Harns nach Kimbarowski, als index der Wirkung von Ascorbinsäure bei Behandlung der Virusgrippe]. *Deutsche Gesundheitswesen* 1967;**22**(51):2413-8. [translation http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/T4.pdf; PUBMED: 5614915]

Mochalkin 1970 {published data only}

Mochalkin NI. Ascorbic acid in the complex therapy of acute pneumonia. *Voenno-Meditsinskii Zhurnal* 1970;**9**(Sep):17-21. [translation http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/T5.pdf; PUBMED: 5515787]

Pitt 1979 {*published data only*}

Pitt HA, Costrini AM. Vitamin C prophylaxis in marine recruits. *JAMA* 1979;**241**(9):908-11. [DOI: 10.1001/ jama.1979.03290350028016; PUBMED: 368370]

Tanaka 2000 {published data only}

Tanaka H, Matsuda T, Miyagantani Y, Yukioka T, Matsuda H, Shimazaki S. Reduction of resuscitation fluid volumes in severely burned patients using ascorbic acid administration: a randomized, prospective study. *Archives of Surgery* 2000;**135**(3):326-31. [DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.135.3.326; PUBMED: 10722036]

References to studies excluded from this review

Cook 2007 {published data only}

Cook NR, Albert CM, Gaziano JM, Zaharris E, MacFadyen J, Danielson E, et al. A randomized factorial trial of vitamins C and E and beta carotene in the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events in women: results from the Women's Antioxidant Cardiovascular Study. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2007;**167**(15):1610-8. [DOI: 10.1001/archinte.167.15.1610; PUBMED: 17698683]

Dahlberg 1944 {published data only}

Dahlberg G, Engel A, Rydin H. The value of ascorbic acid as a prophylactic against common colds. *Acta Medica Scandinavica* 1944;**119**:540-61. [http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/CC/ Dahlberg1944.pdf]

Hunt 1984 {published data only}

Hunt C, Chakravorty NK, Annan G. The clinical and biochemical effects of vitamin C supplementation in short-stay hospitalised geriatric patients. *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research* 1984;**54**(1):65-74. [http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/CP/Hunt1984.pdf; PUBMED: 6376396]

Kahn 2011 {published data only}

Kahn SA, Beers RJ, Lentz CW. Resuscitation after severe burn injury using high-dose ascorbic acid: a retrospective review. *Journal of Burn Care and Research* 2011;**32**(1):110-7. [DOI: 10.1097/BCR.0b013e31820aaf7f; PUBMED: 21131846]

Mahalanabis 2006a {published data only}

Mahalanabis D, Basak M, Paul D, Gupta S, Shaikh S, Wahed MA, et al. Antioxidant vitamins E and C as adjunct therapy of severe acute lower-respiratory infection in infants and young children: a randomized controlled trial. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2006;**60**(5):673–80. [DOI: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602368; PUBMED: 16391588]

Mahalanabis 2006b {published data only}

Mahalanabis D, Jana S, Shaikh S, Gupta S, Chakrabarti ML, Moitra P, et al. Vitamin E and vitamin C supplementation does not improve the clinical course of measles with pneumonia in children: a controlled trial. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics* 2006;**52**(4):302-3. [DOI: 10.1093/tropej/fmi100; PUBMED: 16291830]

Mochalkin 1975 {published data only}

Mochalkin NI. Vitamin C requirement in patients with acute pneumonia during treatment with antibiotics [Russian]. *Vrachebnoe Delo* 1975;**9**:88-92. [http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/ home/hemila/CP/Mochalkin1975.pdf; PUBMED: 1210310]

Nathens 2002 {published data only}

Nathens AB, Neff MJ, Jurkovich GJ, Klotz P, Farver K, Ruzinski JT, et al. Randomized, prospective trial of antioxidant supplementation in critically ill surgical patients. *Annals of Surgery* 2002;**236**(6):814-22. [http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC1422648/; PUBMED: 12454520]

Scheunert 1949 {published data only}

Scheunert A. Adult requirements for vitamin C [Der Tagesbedarf des Erwachsenen an vitamin C]. *International Zeitschrift fur Vitaminforschung* 1949;**20**:374-86. [http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/ home/hemila/CC/Scheunert1949.pdf]

Sesso 2008 {published data only}

Sesso HD, Buring JE, Christen WG, Kurth T, Belanger C, MacFadyen J, et al. Vitamins E and C in the prevention of cardiovascular disease in men: the Physicians' Health Study II

randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2008;**300**(18):2123-33. [DOI: 10.1001/jama.2008.600; PUBMED: 18997197]

Wahed 2008 {published data only}

Wahed MA, Islam MA, Khondakar P, Haque MA. Effect of micronutrients on morbidity and duration of hospital stay in childhood pneumonia. *Mymensingh Medical Journal* 2008;**17**(Suppl 2):77-83. [PUBMED: 18946457]

Additional references

Akaike 2001

Akaike T. Role of free radicals in viral pathogenesis and mutation. *Reviews in Medical Virology* 2001;**11**(2):87-101. [DOI: 10.1002/rmv.303; PUBMED: 11262528]

Albaum 1996

Albaum MN, Hill LC, Murphy M, Li YH, Fuhrman CR, Britton CA, et al. Interobserver reliability of the chest radiograph in community-acquired pneumonia. *Chest* 1996;**110**(2):343-50. [PUBMED: 8697831]

Anderson 1973

Anderson TW, Reid DBW, Beaton GH. Vitamin C and the common cold [correction of the trial data in: 1972;107(6):503-8]. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 1973;**108**(2):133. [PUBMED: 4684621]

Ashton 1999

Ashton T, Young IS, Peters JR, Jones E, Jackson SK, Davies B, et al. Electron spin resonance spectroscopy, exercise, and oxidative stress: an ascorbic acid intervention study. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 1999;**87**(6):2032-6. [PUBMED: 10601146]

Baik 2000

Baik I, Curhan GC, Rimm EB, Bendich A, Willett WC, Fawzi WW. A prospective study of age and lifestyle factors in relation to community-acquired pneumonia in US men and women. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2000;**160**(20):3082-8. [PUBMED: 11074737]

Bakaev 2004

Bakaev VV, Duntau AP. Ascorbic acid in blood serum of patients with pulmonary tuberculosis and pneumonia. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases* 2004;**8**(2):263-6. [PUBMED: 15139458]

Beisel 1982

Beisel WR. Single nutrients and immunity: vitamin C. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 1982;**35**(Suppl):423-8; 460-1. [PUBMED: 7039295]

Bhoite 2011

Bhoite GM, Pawar SM, Bankar MP, Momin AA. Level of antioxidant vitamins in children suffering from pneumonia. *Current Pediatric Research* 2011;**15**(1):11-3.

Bissell 1980

Bissell MJ, Hatie C, Farson DA, Schwarz RI, Soo WJ. Ascorbic acid inhibits replication and infectivity of avian RNA tumor

virus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 1980;**77**(5):2711-5. [DOI: 10.1073/pnas.77.5.2711; PUBMED: 6248860]

Bloomfield 1999

Bloomfield FH, Teele RL, Voss M, Knight DB, Harding JE. Interand intra-observer variability in the assessment of atelectasis and consolidation in neonatal chest radiographs. *Pediatric Radiology* 1999;**29**(6):459-62. [PUBMED: 10369906]

Bohnholtzer 1937

Bohnholtzer E. Contribution to the question of pneumonia treatment with vitamin C [Beitrag zur Frage der Pneumoniebehandlung mit vitamin C]. *Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift* 1937;**63**(26):1001-3. [translation http:// www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/T7.pdf]

Briggs 1984

Briggs M. Vitamin C and infectious disease: a review of the literature and the results of a randomized, double-blind, prospective study over 8 years. In: Briggs MH editor(s). Recent Vitamin Research. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 1984:39-82.

Buffinton 1992

Buffinton GD, Christen S, Peterhans E, Stocker R. Oxidative stress in lungs of mice infected with influenza A virus. *Free Radical Research Communications* 1992;**16**(2):99-110. [PUBMED: 1321077]

Campbell 1975

Campbell GD, Steinberg MH, Bower JD. Ascorbic acid-induced hemolysis in G-6-PD deficiency [letter]. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1975;**82**(6):810. [http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/ hemila/CC/Campbell1975.pdf; PUBMED: 1138591]

Cathcart 1981

Cathcart RF. Vitamin C, titrating to bowel tolerance, anascorbemia, and acute induced scurvy. *Medical Hypotheses* 1981;**7**(11):1359-76. [PUBMED: 7321921]

Cemek 2006

Cemek M, Caksen H, Bayirolu F, Cemek F, Dede S. Oxidative stress and enzymic-non-enzymic antioxidant responses in children with acute pneumonia. *Cell Biochemistry and Function* 2006;**24**(3):269-73. [DOI: 10.1002/cbf.1220; PUBMED: 16634091]

Chakrabarti 1955

Chakrabarti B, Banerjee S. Dehydroascorbic acid level in blood of patients suffering from various infectious diseases. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine* 1955;**88**(4):581-3. [PUBMED: 14371706]

Collier 2008

Collier BR, Giladi A, Dossett LA, Dyer L, Fleming SB, Cotton BA. Impact of high-dose antioxidants on outcomes in acutely injured patients [comment in: 2009;33(4):447-8]. *Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition* 2008;**32**(4):384-8. [DOI: 10.1177/0148607108319808; DOI: 10.1177/0148607108328520; PUBMED: 18596309; PUBMED: 19229041]

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Copyright ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Dalton 1962

Dalton WL. Massive doses of vitamin C in the treatment of viral diseases. *Journal of the Indiana State Medical Association* 1962;**55**(Aug):1151-4. [PUBMED: 13883259]

Dirlewanger 2002

Dirlewanger M, Krahenbuhl JD, Fanconi S, Vaudaux B, Gehri M. Community-acquired pneumonia in children aged 2 months to 5 years: application of the WHO guidelines in a developed country setting (Switzerland). *European Journal of Pediatrics* 2002;**161**(8):460-1. [PUBMED: 12269258]

Doherty 1991

Doherty JF, Dijkhuizen MA, Wieringa FT, Moule N, Golden MHN. WHO guidelines on detecting pneumonia in children [letter]. *Lancet* 1991;**338**:1453-4.

Elwood 1976

Elwood PC, Lee HP, Leger AS, Baird IM, Howard AN. A randomized controlled trial of vitamin C in the prevention and amelioration of the common cold. *British Journal of Preventive and Social Medicine* 1976;**30**(3):193-6. [PUBMED: 788820]

File 2003

File TM. Community-acquired pneumonia. *Lancet* 2003;**362**(9400):1991-2001. [PUBMED: 14683661]

Galley 1996

Galley HF, Davies MJ, Webster NR. Ascorbyl radical formation in patients with sepsis: effect of ascorbate loading. *Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine* 1996;**20**(1):139-43. [DOI: 10.1016/0891-5849(95)02022-5; PUBMED: 8903690]

Gander 1936

Gander J, Niederberger W. Vitamin C in the treatment of pneumonia [Vitamin C in der Pneumonie-Behandlung]. *Munchener Medizinische Wochenschrift* 1936;**83**:2074-7. [translation http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/T1.pdf]

Goetzl 1974

Goetzl EJ, Wasserman SI, Gigli I, Austen KF. Enhancement of random migration and chemotactic response of human leukocytes by ascorbic acid. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1974;**53**(3):813-8. [DOI: 10.1172/JCI107620; PUBMED: 4273024]

Greenland 1994

Greenland S. Quality scores are useless and potentially misleading [comment on: 1994;140(3):290-9]. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1994;**140**(3):300-1.

Hamilton 2000

Hamilton IMJ, Gilmore WS, Benzie IFF, Mulholland CW, Strain JJ. Interactions between vitamins C and E in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition* 2000;**84**(3):261-7. [PUBMED: 10967604]

Hathcock 2005

Hathcock JN, Azzi A, Blumberg J, Blumberg J, Bray T, Dickinson A, et al. Vitamins E and C are safe across a broad range of intakes. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2005;**81**(4):736-45. [PUBMED: 15817846]

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review) Copyright © 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Hemilä 1984

Hemilä H, Roberts P, Wikström M. Activated polymorphonuclear leucocytes consume vitamin C. *FEBS Letters* 1984;**178**(1):25-30. [DOI: 10.1016/0014-5793(84)81232-6; PUBMED: 6094256]

Hemilä 1996

Hemilä H. Vitamin C and common cold incidence: a review of studies with subjects under heavy physical stress. *International Journal of Sports Medicine* 1996;**17**(5):379-83. [DOI: 10.1055/ s-2007-972864; http://hdl.handle.net/10250/7979; PUBMED: 8858411]

Hemilä 1997a

Hemilä H. Vitamin C and infectious diseases. In: Packer L, Fuchs J editor(s). Vitamin C in Health and Disease. NY: Marcel Dekker, 1997:471-503.

Hemilä 1997b

Hemilä H. Vitamin C intake and susceptibility to the common cold [comments in: 1997;78(5):857-66]. *British Journal of Nutrition* 1997;**77**(1):59-72. [DOI: 10.1017/S0007114500002889; PUBMED: 9059230]

Hemilä 1999a

Hemilä H. Vitamin C supplementation and common cold symptoms: factors affecting the magnitude of benefit. *Medical Hypotheses* 1999;**52**:171-8. [DOI: 10.1054/mehy.1997.0639; http://hdl.handle.net/10250/8375; PUBMED: 10340298]

Hemilä 1999b

Hemilä H, Douglas RM. Vitamin C and acute respiratory infections. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease* 1999;**3**(9):756-61. [PUBMED: 10488881]

Hemilä 2003

Hemilä H. Vitamin C, respiratory infections, and the immune system. *Trends in Immunology* 2003;**24**(11):579-80. [DOI: 10.1016/j.it.2003.09.004; PUBMED: 14596879]

Hemilä 2004a

Hemilä H. Vitamin C supplementation and respiratory infections: a systematic review. *Military Medicine* 2004;**169**(11):920-5. [PUBMED: 15605943]

Hemilä 2004b

Hemilä H, Virtamo J, Albanes D, Kaprio J. Vitamin E and betacarotene supplementation and the risk of pneumonia in male smokers. *Chest* 2004;**125**(2):557-65. [PUBMED: 14769738]

Hemilä 2006

Hemilä H. Do vitamins C and E affect respiratory infections?. [Dissertation] University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland 2006:5-11,20-27,46-47,62-63. [http:// hdl.handle.net/10138/20335; https://oa.doria.fi/ handle/10024/1540]

Hemilä 2007a

Hemilä H, Louhiala P. Vitamin C may affect lung infections. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine 2007;**100**(11):495-8. [DOI: 10.1258/jrsm.100.11.495; PUBMED: 18048704]



Hemilä 2008

Hemilä H, Koivula T. Vitamin C for preventing and treating tetanus. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006665.pub2; PUBMED: 18425960]

Hemilä 2009a

Hemilä H, Kaprio J. Modification of the effect of vitamin E supplementation on the mortality of male smokers by age and dietary vitamin C. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2009;**169**(8):946-53. [DOI: 10.1093/aje/kwn413; PUBMED: 19218294]

Hemilä 2011a

Hemilä H, Kaprio J. Subgroup analysis of large trials can guide further research: a case study of vitamin E and pneumonia. *Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**3**:51-9. [DOI: 10.2147/CLEP.S16114; PUBMED: 21386974]

Hemilä 2013a

Hemilä H, Chalker E. Vitamin C for preventing and treating the common cold. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000980.pub4; PUBMED: 23440782]

Hemilä 2013b

Hemilä H. Vitamin C may alleviate exercise-induced bronchoconstriction: a meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* 2013;**3**:e002416. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002416]

Hess 1920

Hess AF. Pathology. Scurvy: Past and Present. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, 1920:81-110. (Available: Search author=Hess at: http://chla.library.cornell.edu/).

Hess 1932

Hess AF. Diet, nutrition and infection. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1932;**207**:637-48. [DOI: 10.1056/ NEJM193210132071501]

Higgins 2003

Higgins JPT, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2003;**327**(7414):557-60. [PUBMED: 12958120]

Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, 2011. [www.cochrane-handbook.org]

Hochwald 1937

Hochwald A. Vitamin C in the treatment of croupous pneumonia [Vitamin C in der Behandlungder kruppösen Pneumonie]. *Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift* 1937;**63**(5):182-4. [translation http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/T8.pdf]

Holley 2011

Holley AD, Osland E, Barnes J, Krishnan A, Fraser JF. Scurvy: historically a plague of the sailor that remains a consideration in the modern intensive care unit. *Internal Medicine Journal* 2011;**41**(3):283-5. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1445-5994.2010.02413.x; PUBMED: 21426466]

Hopstaken 2004

Hopstaken RM, Witbraad T, van Engelshoven JMA, Dinant GJ. Inter-observer variation in the interpretation of chest radiographs for pneumonia in community-acquired lower respiratory tract infections. *Clinical Radiology* 2004;**59**(8):743-52. [PUBMED: 15262550]

Hrobjartsson 2001

Hrobjartsson A, Gøtzsche PC. Is the placebo powerless? An analysis of clinical trials comparing placebo with no treatment. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2001;**344**(21):1594-602. [PUBMED: 11372012]

Hrobjartsson 2010

Hrobjartsson A, Gotzsche PC. Placebo interventions for all clinical conditions. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2010, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003974.pub3]

Hughes 1988

Hughes RE. Ascorbic acid, carnitine and fatigue. *Medical Science Research* 1988;**16**:721-3.

Ioannidis 2007

Ioannidis JP, Trikalinos TA. The appropriateness of asymmetry tests for publication bias in meta-analyses: a large survey. *CMAJ* 2007;**176**(8):1091-6. [DOI: 10.1503/cmaj.060410; PUBMED: 17420491]

IOM 2000

Institute of Medicine. Vitamin C. Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Selenium and Carotenoids. Washington DC: National Academy Press, 2000:95-185.

Jones 1982

Jones E, Hughes RE. Influence of oral carnitine on the body weight and survival time of avitaminotic-C guinea pigs. *Nutrition Reports International* 1982;**25**:201-4.

Juraschek 2012

Juraschek SP, Guallar E, Appel LJ, Miller ER 3rd. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2012;**95**(5):1079-88. [DOI: 10.3945/ajcn.111.027995; PUBMED: 22492364]

Karlowski 1975

Karlowski TR, Chalmers TC, Frenkel LD, Kapikian AZ, Lewis TL, Lynch JM. Ascorbic acid for the common cold: a prophylactic and therapeutic trial. *JAMA* 1975;**231**:1038-42. [DOI: 10.1001/ jama.1975.03240220018013; PUBMED: 163386]

Kiekara 1996

Kiekara O, Korppi M, Tanska S, Soimakallio S. Radiological diagnosis of pneumonia in children. *Annals of Medicine* 1996;**28**:69-72. [PUBMED: 8932509]

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)



Kinsman 1971

Kinsman RA, Hood J. Some behavioral effects of ascorbic acid deficiency. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 1971;**24**:455-64. [PUBMED: 4397430]

Klenner 1948

Klenner FR. Virus pneumonia and its treatment with vitamin C. *Southern Medicine and Surgery* 1948;**110**(2):36-8; 46. [http:// www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/CP/Klenner1948.pdf; PUBMED: 18900646]

Klenner 1951

Klenner FR. Massive doses of vitamin C and the virus disease. Southern Medicine and Surgery 1951;**113**(4):101-7. [http:// www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/CP/Klenner1951.pdf; PUBMED: 14855098]

Lau 2006

Lau J, Ioannidis JP, Terrin N, Schmid CH, Olkin I. The case of the misleading funnel plot. *BMJ* 2006;**333**(7568):597-600. [PUBMED: 16974018]

Levine 1996

Levine M, Conry-Cantilena C, Wang Y, Welch RW, Washko PW, Dhariwal KR, et al. Vitamin C pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers: evidence for a recommended dietary allowance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 1996;**93**(8):3704-9. [PUBMED: 8623000]

Li 2006

Li W, Maeda N, Beck MA. Vitamin C deficiency increases the lung pathology of influenza virus-infected gulo-/- mice. *Journal of Nutrition* 2006;**136**(10):2611-6. [PUBMED: 16988135]

Luberoff 1978

Luberoff BJ. Symptomectomy with vitamin C: a chat with Robert Cathcart, MD. *Chemtech* 1978;**8**:76-86.

Lydersen 2009

Lydersen S, Fagerland MW, Laake P. Recommended tests for association in 2 x 2 tables. *Statistics in Medicine* 2009;**28**(7):1159-75. [DOI: 10.1002/sim.3531; PUBMED: 19170020]

Mandell 2010

Mandell GL, Bennett JE, Dolin R. Acute pneumonia. In: Mandell GL, Bennett JE, Dolin R editor(s). Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases. 7th Edition. Vol. **1**, Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier, 2010:891-916.

Manzella 1979

Manzella JP, Roberts NJ. Human macrophage and lymphocyte responses to mitogen stimulation after exposure to influenza virus, ascorbic acid, and hyperthermia. *Journal of Immunology* 1979;**123**(5):1940-4. [PUBMED: 489966]

Melbye 1992

Melbye H, Dale K. Interobserver variability in the radiographic diagnosis of adult outpatient pneumonia. *Acta Radiologica* 1992;**33**(1):79-81. [PUBMED: 1731850]

Merchant 2004

Merchant AT, Curhan G, Bendich A, Singh VN, Willett WC, Fawzi WW. Vitamin intake is not associated with communityacquired pneumonia in US men. *Journal of Nutrition* 2004;**134**(2):439-44. [PUBMED: 14747686]

Mizgerd 2006

Mizgerd JP. Lung infection: a public health priority. *PLoS Medicine* 2006;**3**(2):e76. [DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030076; PUBMED: 16401173]

Mosdøl 2008

Mosdøl A, Erens B, Brunner EJ. Estimated prevalence and predictors of vitamin C deficiency within UK's low-income population. *Journal of Public Health* 2008;**30**(4):456-60. [DOI: 10.1093/pubmed/fdn076; PUBMED: 18812436]

Nualart 2003

Nualart FJ, Rivas CI, Montecinos VP, Godoy AS, Guaiquil VH, Golde DW, et al. Recycling of vitamin C by a bystander effect. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2003;**278**(12):10128-33. [DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M210686200; PUBMED: 12435736]

Packer 1979

Packer JE, Slater TF, Wilson RL. Direct observation of a free radical interaction between vitamin E and vitamin C. *Nature* 1979;**278**(5706):737-8. [PUBMED: 431730]

Padayatty 2004

Padayatty SJ, Sun H, Wang Y, Riordan HD, Hewitt SM, Katz A, et al. Vitamin C pharmacokinetics: implications for oral and intravenous use. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2004;**140**(7):533-7. [PUBMED: 15068981]

Padayatty 2010

Padayatty SJ, Sun AY, Chen Q, Espey MG, Drisko J, Levine M. Vitamin C: intravenous use by complementary and alternative medicine practitioners and adverse effects. *PLoS One* 2010;**5**(7):e11414. [DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011414; PUBMED: 20628650]

Paynter 2010

Paynter S, Ware RS, Weinstein P, Williams G, Sly PD. Childhood pneumonia: a neglected, climate-sensitive disease?. *Lancet* 2010;**376**(9755):1804-5. [DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62141-1; PUBMED: 21111894]

Pazzaglia 1983

Pazzaglia G, Pasternack M. Recent trends of pneumonia morbidity in US Naval personnel. *Military Medicine* 1983;**148**(8):647-51. [PUBMED: 6415517]

Pio 2003

Pio A. Standard case management of pneumonia in children in developing countries: the cornerstone of the acute respiratory infection programme. *Bulletin of the WHO* 2003;**81**(4):298-300. [PUBMED: 12764497]

Powers 2008

Powers SK, Jackson MJ. Exercise-induced oxidative stress: cellular mechanisms and impact on muscle force production.

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Physiological Reviews 2008;**88**:1243-76. [DOI: 10.1152/ physrev.00031.2007; PUBMED: 18923182]

Rayment 2003

Rayment SJ, Shaw J, Woollard KJ, Lunec J, Griffiths HR. Vitamin C supplementation in normal subjects reduces constitutive ICAM-1 expression. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2003;**308**(2):339-45. [DOI: 10.1016/ S0006-291X(03)01383-4; PUBMED: 12901874]

Raynaud-Simon 2010

Raynaud-Simon A, Cohen-Bittan J, Gouronnec A, Pautas E, Senet P, et al. Scurvy in hospitalized elderly patients. *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging* 2010;**14**(6):407-10. [DOI: 10.1007/ s12603-010-0032-y; PUBMED: 20617280]

Rice 2000

Rice ME. Ascorbate regulation and its neuroprotective role in the brain. *Trends in Neurological Sciences* 2000;**23**:209-16. [PUBMED: 10782126]

Rivers 1987

Rivers JM. Safety of high-level vitamin C ingestion. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1987;**498**:445-54. [http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/safety/Rivers_1987.pdf; PUBMED: 3304071]

Robertson 1934

Robertson EC. The vitamins and resistance to infection: vitamin C. *Medicine* 1934;**13**:190-206. [DOI: 10.1097/00005792-193405000-00001]

Ruuskanen 2011

Ruuskanen O, Lahti E, Jennings LC, Murdoch DR. Viral pneumonia. *Lancet* 2011;**377**(9773):1264-75. [DOI: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(10)61459-6; PUBMED: 21435708]

Sabin 1939

Sabin AB. Vitamin C in relation to experimental poliomyelitis with incidental observations on certain manifestations in Macacus rhesus monkeys on a scorbutic diet. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1939;**69**(4):507-16. [DOI: 10.1084/ jem.69.4.507; www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC2133652/]

Sackett 1997

Sackett DL, Richardson WS, Rosenberg W, Haynes RB. Is this evidence about a treatment valid?. Evidence-based Medicine: How to Practice and Teach EBM. London: Churchill Livingstone, 1997:94.

Schleicher 2009

Schleicher RL, Carroll MD, Ford ES, Lacher DA. Serum vitamin C and the prevalence of vitamin C deficiency in the United States: 2003-2004 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2009;**90**(5):1252-63. [DOI: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.27016; PUBMED: 19675106]

Shapiro 1997

Shapiro S. Is meta-analysis a valid approach to the evaluation of small effects in observational studies?. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 1997;**50**:223-9. [PUBMED: 9120519]

Siegel 1975

Siegel BV. Enhancement of interferon production by poly(rl)poly(rC) in mouse cell cultures by ascorbic acid. *Nature* 1975;**254**(5500):531-2. [DOI: 10.1038/254531a0; PUBMED: 1121329]

Smith 2011

Smith A, Di Primio G, Humphrey-Murto S. Scurvy in the developed world. *CMAJ* 2011;**183**(11):E752-2. [DOI: 10.1503/cmaj.091938; PUBMED: 21555388]

Sterne 2011

Sterne JA, Sutton AJ, Ioannidis JP, Terrin N, Jones DR, Lau J, et al. Recommendations for examining and interpreting funnel plot asymmetry in meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ* 2011;**343**:d4002. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.d4002; PUBMED: 21784880]

Swingler 1998

Swingler GH, Hussay GD, Zwarenstein M. Randomised controlled trial of clinical outcome after chest radiograph in ambulatory acute lower-respiratory infection in children. *Lancet* 1998;**351**(9100):404-8. [PUBMED: 9482294]

Syrjälä 1998

Syrjälä H, Broas M, Suramo I, Ojala A, Lähde S. High resolution computed tomography for the diagnosis of community-acquired pneumonia. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 1998;**27**(2):358-63. [PUBMED: 9709887]

Thomas 1978

Thomas WR, Holt PG. Vitamin C and immunity: an assessment of the evidence. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 1978;**32**(2):370-9. [PUBMED: 352590]

Walker 2013

Walker CL, Rudan I, Liu L, Nair H, Theodoratou E, Bhutta ZA, et al. Global estimate of the incidence of clinical pneumonia among children under five years of age. *Lancet* 2013;**381**(9875):1405-16. [DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60222-6; PUBMED: 23582727]

Wang 1997

Wang Y, Russo TA, Kwon O, Chanock S, Rumsey SC, Levine M. Ascorbate recycling in human neutrophils: induction by bacteria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 1997;**94**(25):13816-9. [PUBMED: 9391110]

Wang 2012

Wang K, Gill P, Perera R, Thomson A, Mant D, Harnden A. Clinical symptoms and signs for the diagnosis of Mycoplasma pneumoniae in children and adolescents with communityacquired pneumonia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 10. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009175.pub2; PUBMED: 23076954]



Webb 2007

Webb AL, Villamor E. Update: effects of antioxidant and non-antioxidant vitamin supplementation on immune function. *Nutrition Reviews* 2007;**65**(5):181-217. [DOI: 10.1301/ nr.2007.may.181-217; PUBMED: 17566547]

WHO 1999a

The World Health Organization (The WHO Young Infants Study Group). Clinical prediction of serious bacterial infections in young infants in developing countries. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1999;**18**(Suppl 10):23-31. [PUBMED: 10530570]

WHO 1999b

WHO. Recent outbreaks of scurvy. Scurvy and its prevention and control in major emergencies. WHO/NHD/99.11. WHO, 1999:1-4 (Table 2). [http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/1999/ WHO_NHD_99.11.pdf]

Young 1994

Young M, Marrie TJ. Interobserver variability in the interpretation of chest roentgenograms of patients with possible pneumonia. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 1994;**154**(23):2729-32. [PUBMED: 7993157]

Zhang 2011

Zhang M, Robitaille L, Eintracht S, Hoffer LJ. Vitamin C provision improves mood in acutely hospitalized patients. *Nutrition*

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

2011;**27**(5):530-3. [DOI: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.05.016; PUBMED: 20688474]

References to other published versions of this review

Hemilä 1997c

Hemilä H. Vitamin C intake and susceptibility to pneumonia. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1997;**16**:836-7. [DOI: 10.1097/00006454-199709000-00003; PUBMED: 9306475]

Hemilä 2007b

Hemilä H, Louhiala P. Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005532.pub2]

Hemilä 2009b

Hemilä H, Louhiala P. Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2009, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005532.pub2]

Hemilä 2011b

Hemilä H, Louhiala P. Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 7. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005532.pub2]

Glazebrook 1942	942
-----------------	-----

Methods	Allocation in groups Quasi-placebo control, see text Carried out in winter, duration 6 months			
Participants	1435 schoolboys in a boarding school in the UK 335 boys in vitamin C divisions (n = 2) and 1100 in control divisions (n = 5) Age range 15 to 20, mean 16 years			
Interventions	Vitamin C 0.05 to 0.3 G/day added to the food in the kitchen			
Outcomes	Incidence of pneumonia			
Notes				
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	High risk	Treatment groups were based on administrative divisions of boarding school, no allocation on individual level		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	High risk	Concluding from the report, allocation was not concealed from the re- searchers but may have been from the schoolboys, although this is not explic- itly stated		

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)



Glazebrook 1942 (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Concluding from the report, the participants were blinded to vitamin C admin- istration (see Included studies for details)
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Concluding from the report, the diagnosis of pneumonia was made in the Sick Quarter by physicians who were not involved in the study so that they proba- bly were blinded to the treatment group (see Included studies for details)

Hunt 1994

Methods	Randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial Carried out in October to December
Participants	57 elderly patients: 27 males, 30 females, age range 66 to 94, mean 81 years (28 vitamin C; 29 placebo) Hospitalised for acute bronchitis (n = 40) or pneumonia (n = 17)
Interventions	Vitamin C 0.2 G/day Treatment for up to 4 weeks after hospitalisation
Outcomes	Mortality Change in a score of clinical symptoms in 4 weeks (scale 3 to 10: 3 = no symptoms, 10 = death)

Notes

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Reported as randomised but no details of randomisation are described
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Study was double-blind so that neither participants nor researchers knew to which group the participant had been allocated
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Double-blind trial
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Double-blind trial

Allocation method not described but study arms were of similar size (112 and 114 initially) Placebo not used Blinding of outcome assessment not described, see text Groups were balanced on the basis of disease severity at baseline, see text
226 soldiers hospitalised for influenza A (114 vitamin C; 112 control)

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)



Kimbarowski 1967 (Continued)

Interventions	Vitamin C 0.3 G/day				
Outcomes	Incidence of bronchopneumonia after hospitalisation				
Notes					
Risk of bias					
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement			
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	High risk	Concluding from the report, probably alternative allocation because the groups were nearly identical in size (114 versus 112) though this is not explicitly stated			
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	High risk	Concluding from the report, there is no reason to assume that allocation was concealed			
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Concluding from the report, there is no reason to assume that researchers were blinded to the intervention			
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Concluding from the report, there is no reason to assume that researchers were blinded when assessing pneumonia			

Mochalkin 1970

Methods	Allocation method not described Quasi-placebo control, see text					
		were balanced in study groups				
Participants	70 in control group, 39	70 in control group, 39 in low vitamin C group and 31 in high vitamin C group				
Interventions	-	n C 2 mg per 2000 antibiotic units				
	(vitamin C range: 0.5 to Low vitamin C (used as	the placebo group in the primary comparison): vitamin C 1 mg per 2000 antibi-				
	otic units					
	(vitamin C range: 0.25 to 0.8 G/day)					
Outcomes	Period of recovery					
	Duration of fever					
	Duration of chest X-ray	normalisation				
Notes	Control group was not administered placebo and thus the primary analysis focuses on the high and low vitamin C groups.					
	We did a secondary analysis in which all 3 arms were included (Table 1)					
Risk of bias						
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement				
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	High risk	Randomisation not described and groups are of such different sizes that it is unlikely they originate from randomisation				

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Mochalkin 1970 (Continued)

Library

Allocation concealment (selection bias)	High risk	Concluding from the report, there is no reason to assume that allocation was concealed
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Concluding from the report, there is no reason to assume that researchers were blinded to the intervention
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Concluding from the report, there is no reason to assume that researchers were blinded when assessing pneumonia

Pitt 1979

Methods	Randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial Carried out in October to December, 8-week trial
Participants	674 marine recruits in a training camp in the USA (331 vitamin C; 343 placebo)
Interventions	Vitamin C 2 G/day
Outcomes	Incidence of pneumonia
Notes	

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Participants were assigned randomly to the groups from a list of consecutive numbers randomised in pairs
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Study was double-blind so that neither participants nor researchers knew to which group the participant had been allocated
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Double-blind
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Double-blind

Tanaka 2000

Methods	Parallel-group controlled trial but possibly not randomised although the term is used. Level of blinding not described
Participants	37 consecutive patients with burns over 30% of their total body surface area who were admitted to the ICU within 2 h after the injury
Interventions	Intravenous vitamin C (66 mg/kg/h) during the 24 hours after admission (i.e. 110 G for a 70 kg person)

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)



Tanaka 2000 (Continued)

	Outcomes Incidence of pneumonia within 2 weeks (Analysis 2.1)						
	Notes	The keywords and abstract do not have the term 'pneumonia' and therefore this study was identified only in 2013					
P		Primary focus of the study was fluid balance					

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Randomization was performed according to the month of admission" sug- gests that the authors used 'randomisation' as a synonym for 'allocation'
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described

h = hour ICU = intensive care unit n = number

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Cook 2007	No data on pneumonia. This is a large-scale trial in which 0.5 G/d vitamin C was administered to 8171 US female health professionals for 9 y. We asked whether any data on the incidence of pneu- monia might have been collected and received a reply: "WACS did not ask about occurrence of pneumonia" (email Dr. Cook 23 April 2013). This large-scale trial does give relevant information about adverse effects of vitamin C
Dahlberg 1944	Military recruits in Sweden (n = 2525). 50 mg/day of vitamin C. The outcome is a mixture of tonsil- litis, otitis, sinusitis, bronchitis and pneumonia making the trial potentially relevant. However, the cases of pneumonia or lower respiratory tract infection cannot be inferred from the outcome also containing upper respiratory infections
Hunt 1984	One group of diagnoses in the hospitalised patients (n = 199) was "respiratory infections" but it was not separated into lower and upper respiratory infections
Kahn 2011	The study recorded the frequency of pneumonia in burn patients (n = 40). The abstract suggests that it was a controlled trial: "patients were divided into two groups", one of which was adminis-tered IV vitamin C. However, the text indicates that the study was not a trial but an analysis of a cohort of patients admitted to burn care unit
Mahalanabis 2006a	Combination of vitamins C (0.2 G/d) and E (0.4 G/d) was used for 5 d. Children aged 2 to 35 months with severe acute lower respiratory tract infection. No difference in recovery rate between treat- ment (n = 89) and placebo groups (n = 85)

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Study	Reason for exclusion
Mahalanabis 2006b	Combination of vitamins C (0.2 G/d) and E (0.2 G/d) was used for 6 d. Children aged 1 to 10 y with measles and associated pneumonia; all were clinically diagnosed to have pneumonia. No difference in recovery rate between treatment (n = 36) and placebo groups (n = 35)
Mochalkin 1975	No placebo in the control group (n = 70). Benefit was reported in the vitamin C versus no treatment comparison (n = 70)
Nathens 2002	Critically ill surgical patients (n = 595). Combination of vitamins C (1 G/d) IV and vitamin E (1000 IU/ d) per naso-orogastric tube for up to 28 d. No difference in the incidence of pneumonia but signifi- cant decrease in the duration of mechanical ventilation and ICU length of stay
Scheunert 1949	Different doses of vitamin C were administered to 4 study groups (20, 50, 100 and 300 mg/day) (n = 1066) so that the lowest dose arm might be used as the control group "Lung disease" was used as one of the outcomes making the trial potentially relevant The data are, however, presented so ambiguously that no data could be extracted for this review
Sesso 2008	No data on pneumonia. This is a large-scale trial in which 0.5 G/d vitamin C was administered to 14,641 US male physicians for 8 y. We asked whether any data on the incidence of pneumonia might have been collected and received a reply: "data on incident pneumonia has unfortunately not been collected" (email Dr. Sesso 19 April 2013). This large-scale trial does give relevant information about adverse effects
Wahed 2008	The description of the methods of this 7-arm trial is minimal. The dose of vitamin C is not de- scribed. It is not clear whether a placebo was used. The authors state that "initially data was col- lected from 1150 children and after exclusions only 800 children were selected for analysis." How- ever, the original number of children in each of the 7 groups is not reported. When the reasons for exclusion seem to be random (complications of pneumonia etc.) it does not seem possible that random dropping out would lead to 5 groups which each had exactly 40 children and a placebo group which had exactly 400 children. The duration of hospital stay because of pneumonia in the control group (n = 400) was 7.75 d and in the vitamin C group (n = 40) was 7.00 d. However, the SD is not given for the estimates. Due to these and many further problems we excluded the trial

d = days ICU = intensive care unit IV = intravenous n = number SD = standard deviation y = years

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Vitamin C for preventing community-acquired pneumonia

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 The number of pneumonia cases during the follow-up	3		Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% Cl)	Totals not select- ed

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)



Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Vitamin C for preventing community-acquired pneumonia, Outcome 1 The number of pneumonia cases during the follow-up.

Study or subgroup	Vit C	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Peto Odds Ratio
	n/N	n/N	Peto, Fixed, 95% CI	Peto, Fixed, 95% Cl
Glazebrook 1942	0/335	17/1100		0.27[0.09,0.83]
Kimbarowski 1967	2/114	10/112		0.24[0.08,0.77]
Pitt 1979	1/331	7/343		0.23[0.06,0.92]
		Favours vitamin C	0.02 0.1 1 10	⁵⁰ Favours control

Comparison 2. Vitamin C for treating community-acquired pneumonia

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Change in the severity of pulmonary symptoms (scale 3 to 10)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.1 Most severely ill (respiratory score 8 or 9 on admission)	1	27	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-2.38 [-4.32, -0.44]
1.2 Less ill (respiratory score 7 or less on admission)	1	30	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-0.04 [-1.15, 1.07]
2 Mortality of pneumonia patients	1		Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
3 Duration of pneumonia (days)	1	70	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-4.00 [-5.83, -2.17]

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Vitamin C for treating community-acquired pneumonia, Outcome 1 Change in the severity of pulmonary symptoms (scale 3 to 10).

Study or subgroup	Vi	tamin C	Р	lacebo	Mean Difference	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	Fixed, 95% CI		Fixed, 95% CI
2.1.1 Most severely ill (respiratory	score 8 d	or 9 on admissio	n)				
Hunt 1994	12	-4.2 (2.1)	15	-1.9 (3)		100%	-2.38[-4.32,-0.44]
Subtotal ***	12		15			100%	-2.38[-4.32,-0.44]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable							
Test for overall effect: Z=2.4(P=0.02)							
2.1.2 Less ill (respiratory score 7 o	r less on	admission)					
Hunt 1994	16	-2.8 (1.4)	14	-2.8 (1.6)		100%	-0.04[-1.15,1.07]
Subtotal ***	16		14		\bullet	100%	-0.04[-1.15,1.07]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable							
Test for overall effect: Z=0.07(P=0.94)						
Test for subgroup differences: Chi ² =4	4.21, df=1	. (P=0.04), I ² =76.2	24%				
			Favo	ours vitamin C	-5 -2.5 0 2.5 5	Favours pla	cebo

Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Vitamin C for treating communityacquired pneumonia, Outcome 2 Mortality of pneumonia patients.

Study or subgroup	Study or subgroup Vit C		Peto Odds Ratio			Peto Odds Ratio	
	n/N	n/N	Peto, Fixed	l, 95% CI		Peto, Fixed, 95% Cl	
Hunt 1994	1/28	5/29				0.24[0.04,1.29]	
		Favours vitamin C	0.005 0.1 1	10	200	Favours placebo	

Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 Vitamin C for treating communityacquired pneumonia, Outcome 3 Duration of pneumonia (days).

Study or subgroup	High vit C		Low vit C		Mean Difference		Weight	Mean Difference	
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		Fixed,	, 95% CI		Fixed, 95% CI
Mochalkin 1970	31	15.1 (3.2)	39	19.1 (4.6)				100%	-4[-5.83,-2.17]
Total ***	31		39			•		100%	-4[-5.83,-2.17]
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=4.29(P<0.0	001)								
			Favo	ours high vit C	-10	-5	0 5 10	Favours low	vit C

Comparison 3. Vitamin C for preventing hospital-acquired pneumonia

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of par- ticipants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 The number of pneumonia cases during the follow-up	1	37	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% Cl)	1.16 [0.31, 4.40]

Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Vitamin C for preventing hospital-acquired pneumonia, Outcome 1 The number of pneumonia cases during the follow-up.

Study or subgroup	Vitamin C	Control		F	Peto Odds Rati	io		Weight	Peto Odds Ratio
	n/N	n/N		Pe	eto, Fixed, 95%	5 CI			Peto, Fixed, 95% CI
Tanaka 2000	7/19	6/18				-		100%	1.16[0.31,4.4]
Total (95% CI)	19	18			-	-		100%	1.16[0.31,4.4]
Total events: 7 (Vitamin C), 6 (Control)									
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=0.22(P=0.83)									
		Favours vitamin C	0.02	0.1	1	10	50	Favours control	

ADDITIONAL TABLES



Table 1. Mochalkin 1970: All results of all three trial arms

Outcome	Control	Low C	High C	P (High ver- sus con- trol)	
	(no place- bo)	group	group		
Participants in the trial arms (N)	70	39	31		
Vitamin C level in plasma					
Initial level (μmol/L)	41	41	40		
Level at 10 days (µmol/L)	23	35	43		
Outcomes					
Normalisation of erythrocyte sedimentation rate in 16 days (n)	41 (58%)	36 (92%)	31 (100%)	10-5	
NNTB, compared with the control		3.0	2.1		
Temperature normal in 10 days (n)	54 (77%)	37 (95%)	31 (100%)	0.002	
NNTB, compared with the control		5.5	4.4		
Chest radiograph normal in 16 days (n)	47 (67%)	33 (84%)	29 (93%)	0.003	
NNTB, compared with the control		5.9	3.8		
Duration of hospital stay (days) (SD)	23.7 (3.2)	19.1 (4.6)	15.1 (3.3)	10-20	
Difference from control, mean (95% CI)		4.6 (3.1 to 6.1)	8.6 (7.2 to 10.0)		

CI = confidence interval n = number NNTB = number need to treat to benefit SD = standard deviation

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Diagnosis of pneumonia

We did not require that the pneumonia diagnosis was based on chest X-radiography (CXR). CXR is objective in the sense that the picture is permanent. However, it is not an effective test for pneumonia. Syrjälä 1998 reported that of 26 adult pneumonia cases that were diagnosed as pneumonia using high-resolution computed tomography (HRCT), only 18 were identified when using CXR; thus 30% of the HRCT-identified pneumonias were false negatives in the CXR. Doherty 1991 reported that of six cases of pneumonia in children identified at autopsy, only three were identified by a radiologist using CXR. Evidently the sensitivity of CXR is often low. Also, the interpretation of CXR to conclude that a patient has pneumonia is quite subjective. Kappa (K) score is a measure for inter-observer variability, with K = 1 indicating perfect agreement and K = 0 indicating agreement explained by pure chance. In both adults and children, interpretation of a set of CXR to decide whether the patient has pneumonia or not yielded low agreement between two observers: K of 0.4 to 0.5 (Albaum 1996; Bloomfield 1999; Hopstaken 2004; Melbye 1992) and inter-observer variability ranged from 20% to 30% (Kiekara 1996; Young 1994). In patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, Hopstaken 2004 found a K of 0.2 for the diagnosis of pneumonia using CXR indicating very poor agreement between two radiologists. Because of its inconsistency and low sensitivity, CXR is not a 'gold standard' for the diagnosis of pneumonia, even though it is a very popular method. HRCT is more sensitive but rarely available.

Pneumonia can be diagnosed clinically without CXR. In low-income countries, the World Health Organization (WHO) has proposed the use of respiratory rate and chest in-drawing to decide whether children presenting to outpatient clinics with cough or difficulty in breathing have 'clinical pneumonia' (Pio 2003). A multi-centre study facilitated by the WHO evaluated the efficacy of predicting pneumonia from clinical signs and symptoms and found that a combination of respiratory rate, rectal temperature, weight-for-age and a set of other clinical findings accurately predicted pneumonia (WHO 1999a). This study was motivated by the fact that "in low-income countries laboratory facilities to perform tests such as the blood count and CXR are often unavailable and clinical decisions must be made without them". A Cochrane Review analysed whether clinical symptoms and signs might be used to identify pneumonia caused by *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* but they were not good at identifying mycoplasma pneumonia cases (Wang 2012).

Clinical diagnosis of pneumonia and CXR-based diagnosis of pneumonia have modest disagreement but we do not know how they both compare with HRCT. It is possible that some of the clinical pneumonia cases that are negative in CXR might be positive in HRCT. Thus, the divergence between clinical diagnosis and CXR should not be considered categorically as a measure of error in the former.

Furthermore, CXR does not necessarily add useful information to the clinical diagnosis of pneumonia. Swingler found that "interpretation of CXR did not affect clinical outcome in outpatient children with an acute lower respiratory infection. There are no clinically identifiable subgroups of children within the WHO case definition of pneumonia who are likely to benefit from a CXR" (Swingler 1998). Finally, Dirlewanger 2002 in Switzerland found that of 47 children fulfilling the WHO clinical criteria of pneumonia, 46 children had consolidation or diffuse infiltrate in CXR; thus showing that pneumonia can be accurately diagnosed clinically in high-income countries without the use of CXR. For these reasons we have not limited our review to trials using pneumonia diagnosis based on CXR but have also included trials with clinical pneumonia diagnosis.

Appendix 2. Earlier searches

Search in 2007 version: We searched the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (*The Cochrane Library* 2006, Issue 1), OLD MEDLINE (1950 TO 1965), MEDLINE (1966 to February Week 2, 2006), EMBASE (1974 to March 2006), Web of Science (1945 to February 2006) and reference lists of reviews and articles.

MEDLINE (OVID)

1 vitamin C.mp. or exp Ascorbic Acid/ 2 pneumonia.mp. or exp Pneumonia/ 3 bronchitis.mp. or exp Bronchitis/ 4 2 or 3 5 1 and 4

Search in 2009 version: We searched the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (*The Cochrane Library* 2008, Issue 4), which contains the Acute Respiratory Infections Group's Specialised Register, Ovid MEDLINE (1950 to January Week 1, 2009), EMBASE (1974 to January 2009), Web of Science (1945 to January 2009) and reference lists of reviews and articles. MEDLINE search as in 2007 version, see above.

Appendix 3. Embase.com search strategy in 2013

#13. #6 AND #12
#12. #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11
#11. 'vit c':ab,ti
#10. 'vitamin c':ab,ti
#9. ascorb*:ab,ti
#8. 'l-ascorbic':ab,ti
#7. 'ascorbic acid'/exp
#6. #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5
#5. bronchit*:ab,ti
#4. 'bronchitis'/exp
#3. bronchopneumon*:ab,ti
#2. pneumon*:ab,ti
#1. 'pneumonia'/exp

Appendix 4. Web of Science search strategy in 2013

Topic=(pneumon* or bronchopneumon* or bronchit*) AND Topic=("ascorbic acid" or "vitamin c" or "vit c")

WHAT'S NEW



Date	Event	Description
8 April 2013	New search has been performed	Searches conducted. No new trials identified from the searches but an older study (Tanaka 2000) was included. We excluded two new trials (Cook 2007; Sesso 2008).
8 April 2013	New citation required but conclusions have not changed	Our conclusions remain unchanged.

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 4, 2005 Review first published: Issue 1, 2007

Date	Event	Description
7 February 2011	New search has been performed	Searches conducted. No new trials were included in this update. Three new studies were excluded (Kahn 2011; Mochalkin 1975; Wahed 2008). The conclusions remain unchanged.
30 January 2009	New search has been performed	Searches conducted and minor changes made to the text. Con- clusions remain unchanged. No new trials found.
26 August 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format.
9 February 2006	New search has been performed	Searches conducted.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

HH planned the review, carried out the literature searches and RevMan analyses and wrote the draft of the text. HH and PL selected the included trials, extracted the data, interpreted the results and finished the text. HH updated the review and PL commented on the update.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• No sources of support supplied

External sources

• New Source of support, Not specified.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

In our protocol we defined primary outcomes for treatment as: "the duration and severity of pneumonic episode, duration of hospital stay and death caused by pneumonia". However, "the duration of hospital stay" is one way of measuring "the duration of pneumonia" and therefore in the 2013 update we simplified the primary treatment outcomes to: "the duration and severity of pneumonic episode and death caused by pneumonia".

ΝΟΤΕS

Full text versions of references which are available either free or from the publishers' databases can be accessed via the home page of the contact author, Harri Hemilä: http://www.mv.helsinki.fi/home/hemila/CP.

Vitamin C for preventing and treating pneumonia (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Antioxidants [*administration & dosage]; Ascorbic Acid [*administration & dosage]; Community-Acquired Infections [prevention & control]; Pneumonia [*prevention & control]; Vitamins [*administration & dosage]

MeSH check words

Humans